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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

“Many are saying that things will never be 
the same after CoVId-19, but the key is what 
lessons we are learning from this ‘black 
swan’ event and how to reach for the better. 
the Insurance Authority sees both challenges 
and enlightenment in the making, and has 
reacted by delicately balancing business 
facilitation with structural reforms.”

Dr Moses Cheng
Chairman

The past year was an eventful one for the Insurance Authority (“IA”), fraught with unprecedented challenges but yet 
filled with emerging opportunities. Key achievements made during the reporting period include taking over 
responsibility from the three former Self-Regulatory Organisations1, engaging the industry in finalising the Risk-based 
Capital (“RBC”) Regime, devising a group-wide supervisory framework, introducing measures to enhance 
competitiveness of Hong Kong as a global risk management centre, sustaining momentum on initiatives related to the 
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (“GBA”) development and bringing insurance products in line with 
societal aspirations.

PRotECtING PolICy HoldERS
On 23 September 2019, the IA commenced the statutory regulatory regime for all insurance intermediaries, heralding a 
new era of unified licensing, continuous professional training and disciplinary mechanisms. Our main attention will 
henceforth be shifted onto the Policy Holders’ Protection Scheme.

The current solvency regime has served us well but is not in sync with prevailing international standards, which 
determine capital requirements based on risk exposure and asset-liability matching. This takes on greater significance 
in light of the unprecedented market volatilities brought about by COVID-19 and is the crucial component for a robust 
system to safeguard the insuring public. An iterative process of Quantitative Impact Studies has helped to calibrate the 
design parameters, taking into account technical merits and practical outcomes. Progress is on track for the RBC regime 
to be introduced in 2022 with an appropriate run-in period.
1 The former Self-Regulatory Organisations are The Hong Kong Confederation of Insurance Brokers, The Professional Insurance Brokers Association 

and the Insurance Agents Registration Board formed under The Hong Kong Federation of Insurers.
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Chairman’s message

ProMoTinG coMPeTiTiveness
hong kong is a mature market, boasting top insurance 
density and penetration rates. Consolidating it as a 
premier base for regional headquarters set up by major 
i n t e r n a t i o n a l  g r o u p s  s h a r p e n s  o u r  e d g e  a s  a n 
international financial centre. early enactment of the 
relevant bill and subsidiary legislation will provide a 
comprehensive supervisory framework for this purpose.

the other priority in terms of promoting competitiveness 
is crafting hong kong into a global risk management 
centre and insurance and reinsurance hub. a series of 
proposals have already been implemented to provide for 
improved tax concessions, expanded scope of risks taken 
up by captives and issuance of insurance-linked 
securities. We will take full advantage of the favourable 
environment so created to convince state-owned 
enterprises in China that hong kong is an ideal launch 
pad for their overseas ventures.

enhancinG sUsTainabiliTY
the gba development is an attempt to leverage the 
complementary strengths of 11 cities in the region so that 
they could flourish as a dynamic cluster. during the 
reporting period, we worked closely with relevant 
mainland authorities on the setting up of post-sale 
service centres by hong kong insurers and development 
of innovative cross-boundary insurance products, both 
aiming to facilitate an unimpeded flow of people, goods 
and capital across the entire enclave. it will not take long 
before people could choose to live, study or work in the 
gba as if they never left hong kong. the vast supply of 
land,  the access to ski l led workers,  the pool  of 
information technology talents, and the fledging 
consumption market are perfect conditions for young 
entrepreneurs looking for a launch pad to kickstart their 
ventures. it is upon us to catapult the gba into a 
secondary source of economic growth.

On the other hand,  insurance is  a unique trade 
predicated on trust and promises. in hong kong where a 
rapidly ageing population is served by a basic social 
safety net and highly subsidised healthcare, insurance 
could play a key role in inducing early retirement 
planning and pooling of risks, thus preventing public 
services from being overloaded. We have made a 
conscious start by experimenting with the Qualifying 
deferred annuity Policy eligible for tax deduction, which 
was met with overwhelming response. analysis of 
consumer preferences and behaviour will offer insights 
on how to replicate the same success in other business 
lines. the balanced emphasis accorded to indigenous 
demands is also conducive to long-term sustainability.

iMPacT of covid-19
many are saying that things will never be the same after
COVid-19, but the key is what lessons we are learning 
from this “black swan” event and how to reach for the 
better. as michelle Obama puts it,

“don’t reach for normal, reach for better.”

the ia sees both challenges and enlightenment in the
making, and has reacted by delicately balancing business 
facilitation with structural reforms. some prime examples 
are phased introduction of the temporary facilitative
measures for non-face-to-face selling of designated
insurance products with compensating disclosure 
requirements and an extended cooling-off period, 
expedited approval of trial projects under the insurtech 
sandbox and training for intermediaries conducted
through internet self-learning or virtual lectures. these
initiatives constitute general relief while steering the 
traditional mindset towards alternative modes of 
distribution and digital transformation.

oUTlook for The fUTUre
hong kong is no stranger to crises and has risen time and 
again from adversities, but it takes faith, unity and resolve 
for us to prevail. i call on the insurance industry to rally 
together with the community to ensure a full and speedy 
recovery once the pandemic begins to show signs of 
abatement. Finally, my sincere gratitude goes to the non-
executive directors and a diligent team of staff at the ia 
for their commitment and perseverance amidst a period 
of trying times.

dr Moses cheng
Chairman
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CEO’S MESSAGE

“Riding on an encouraging response to the Qualifying 
Deferred Annuity Policies and playing to the expanding 
level of care sought after by an ageing population, the 
insurance Authority will partner more closely with 
the industry in future to explore offerings that 
open up new opportunities while helping to 
share out the burden shouldered by the 
Government.”

Mr Clement Cheung
Chief Executive Officer

There is a common saying that trauma and trepidation will reveal the true character of a person — the same goes for 
collective individuals in the insurance industry. This annual report covers an extraordinary period when Hong Kong was 
hit by a spate of social events, an escalating trade dispute between Mainland China and the United States, as well as the 
unforeboded onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. It is a true test of our nimbleness, resilience and cohesion.

SOCiAl ROlE Of inSuRAnCE

While all trades and professions are bracing for the fallout from a stealthy and highly infectious microbe, it is a sobering 
moment to reflect on how the insurance industry could better serve the community. The answer is not hard to find as 
valid claims on property damages and business interruptions sustained during the social events were promptly settled, 
caring relief such as premium holidays and refunds, expedited processing of medical claims, flexibility on class of 
hospital facilities and limited-time complimentary coverage were swiftly introduced amidst COVID-19. These are some 
fine examples of how insurance can answer societal needs.
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adversiTY versUs oPPorTUniTY

i live by the philosophy that adversities in life are 
inevitable. it is how you overcome these adversities that
makes the difference. While COVid-19 has undoubtedly
been a source of serious impediment to all walks of life, 
there is a silver lining. the reversal of fortune for business 
derived from mainland visitors has rekindled interest in
coping with emerging local demands. riding on an 
encouraging response to the Qualifying deferred annuity 
Policies and playing to the expanding level of care sought 
after by an ageing population, the insurance authority 
(“ia”) will partner more closely with the industry in future 
to explore offerings that open up new opportunities while 
helping to share out the burden shouldered by the 
government.

imposition of social distancing, on the other hand, is a 
powerful driver of insurtech application that bodes well
for  24/7 customer interaction,  deeper f inancial 
inclusiveness and reduced protection gaps. the ia has
adopted a three-pronged strategy to make this happen 
— phased introduction of temporary facilitative measures 
with alternative compliance requirements applicable
only to non-face-to-face selling of designated insurance 
products, followed by approval of trial projects meeting 
full compliance requirements under the insurtech 
sandbox, and soon to be wrapped up by a shared-use 
virtual onboarding platform for smaller participants to 
launch cost-effective solutions. the rippling effect is 
already being felt by insurance intermediaries in terms of 
l i c e n c e  a p p l i c a t i o n s ,  c o n t i n u i n g  p r o f e s s i o n a l
development courses and qualifying examinations. let us
not forget the four virtual insurers authorized under Fast 
track, all registering a multifold increase in activities
since the start of this year.

another bright spot is the setting up of post-sale service 
centres in guangdong-hong kong-macao greater bay 
area, whose functional importance has been clearly 
borne out by restricted cross-boundary passenger flows 
that prevented holders of insurance policies issued in 
hong kong from accessing the essential customer 
support to which they are entitled. We expect a 
meaningful breakthrough to be on the horizon.

sUPervision and reGUlaTion

Viewed from the supervisory perspective, COVid-19 has 
placed additional strain on a global investment market 
reeling from rising geopolitical tensions. We responded 
by performing stress tests based on a further drop in 
interest rates and equity prices as well as widening of 
credit spreads. in parallel, conduct regulation has been 
stepped up so that eagerness to seal deals will not 
become an excuse for unethical behaviour.

meanwhile, enactment of the relevant bill on group-wide 
supervisory framework, commencement of direct 
regulation on insurance intermediaries, completion of 
the third Quantitative impact studies on the risk-based 
Capital regime and satisfactory progress on finalisation 
of design for the Policy holders’ Protection scheme will 
fortify our defences against anticipated market dynamics.

conclUsion

On behalf of my management team, i would like to 
conclude by thanking the ia board under the visionary 
leadership of dr moses Cheng for its guidance and advice, 
which enabled us to persevere through a turbulent year 
with flying colours.

clement cheung
Chief Executive Officer
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The Year Under review
financial arranGeMenTs

the insurance authority (“ia”) is a financial regulator whose income is 
mainly derived from premium levies, authorization and annual fees, as well 
as specific user fees. although the government has provided a capital 
grant to support its establishment and initial years of operation, the ia 
must strive to achieve financial independence. Furthermore, we should 
exercise prudent financial management to ensure that resources are 
deployed in an optimal manner in carrying out our statutory functions and 
key activities.

fUndinG

Premium levies have been collected from policy holders 
since 1 January 2018. in 2019–20, the premium levy rate 
was at 0.06% of applicable premiums, subject to a cap of 
hk$60 and hk$3,000 for long term and general policies 
respectively. this rate will be adjusted progressively 
upwards to 0.10% by april 2021, subject to a cap of 
hk$100 and hk$5,000 for long term and general policies 
respectively.

authorization and annual fees have been payable by 
insurers to the ia since 26 June 2017, comprising a fixed 
fee of hk$300,000 (hk$30,000 for captive insurers) and a 
variable fee at 0.0013% of insurance liabilities capped at 
hk$7 million. this rate will also be adjusted progressively 
upwards to 0.0039% of insurance liabilities by June 2022. 
in addition to specific user fees, a licensing fee will start 
to be receivable from insurance intermediaries in 2024.

incoMe and exPendiTUre

the ia took over all statutory functions from the former 
Office of the Commissioner of insurance with effect from 
26 June 2017. For 2019-20, income and operating 
expenditure were hk$248.2 million and hk$367.6 million 
respectively, resulting in a deficit of hk$119.4 million, 
which was met by a capital grant of hk$653 million from 
the government.1 Premium levies of hk$163 million 
together with authorization and annual fees of hk$68.8 
million were our major sources of income, while staff 
costs of hk$291.9 million accounted for the bulk of 
operating expenditure.

1 the government provided an additional capital grant of HK$300 million to the IA in June 2020.
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The Year Under review
MarkeT overview

in 20191, the total gross premiums of the hong kong insurance industry 
increased by 10.2% to hk$566,887 million.

lonG TerM insUrance bUsiness

total office premiums for in-force long term business 
increased by 10.8% to hk$511,452 million in 2019. 
individual life category remained the dominant line of 
business, making up hk$440,243 million or 86.1% of total 
long term business. the respective number of policies in 
2019 stood at 13.2 million, carrying net liabilities of 
hk$2,120,264 million.

yearly contributions for retirement scheme contracts 
administered by insurers decreased by 5.3% to hk$8,877 
million. in 2019, there were 65,728 retirement scheme 
contracts carrying net liabilities of hk$133,700 million. in-
force office premiums for group life business increased 
by 22.7% to hk$4,276 million, carrying net liabilities of 
hk$1,418 million. in-force office premiums for annuity 
business increased by 172.8% to hk$56,449 million. in-
force office premiums for Other business (mainly 

Permanent health business) increased by 4.3% to 
hk$1,608 million.

Office premiums for new individual life business 
increased by 0.4% to hk$151,180 million in 2019, 
including hk$139,421 million from individual life (non-
linked) business and hk$11,759 million from linked 
business, which recorded an increase of 4.7% and a 
decrease of 32.4% respectively. the total number of new 
policies increased by 2.4% to 1.3 million in 2019. Office 
premiums for new individual annuity business increased 
by 93.2% to hk$20,895 million. as at 31 december 2019, 
around 96,000 Qualifying deferred annuity Policies 
(“QdaPs”) had been sold in the nine months since the 
launch of QdaP in april 2019, contributing total premiums 
amounting to hk$6,900 million. the average age of policy 
holders was 48.2, while the average annualised premiums 
per policy stood at around hk$72,000.

office Premiums of Total in-force long Term business
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1 market Overview statistics cover insurers whose financial year ended between 1 January 2019 and 31 december 2019.
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in-force individual life Policies
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General insUrance bUsiness

total gross written premiums (“gWP”) recorded a growth 
rate of 4.4% to hk$55,435 million in 2019. Overall 
underwriting profit rose from hk$583 million in 2018 to 
hk$869 million in 2019, propelled by Property damage 
business resulting from the absence of any major 
typhoons. as at 31 december 2019, gross and net claims 
incurred by authorized insurers due to the social events 
were  hk$1,292 million and hk$411 million respectively.

Premium growth was mainly driven by the growth in 
Property damage business, followed by accident & 
health business,  which grew by 13.7% and 7.2% 
respectively. gWP growth in Property damage business 
was mainly driven by new business as well as rates 

hardening after losses from super-typhoons in the 
previous two years. ships, goods in transit, general 
liability and Pecuniary loss business recorded a slight 
drop in gWP. the overall claim experience for general 
insurance business was on a par with 2018, with a net 
loss ratio of 62.3% in 2019 compared with 62.4% in 2018.

underwriting performance for motor Vehicle business 
deteriorated in 2019, with an underwriting loss of hk$525 
million compared with a loss of hk$248 million in 2018. 
all business lines, with the exception of motor Vehicle, 
ships, general liability and miscellaneous business 
(including aircraft and treaty reinsurance business), 
recorded positive underwriting results in 2019, with 
Property damage business delivering the strongest 
underwriting profit.
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Growth of Gross written Premiums
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 net loss ratio — total of net Claims incurred and unexpired risks adjustment expressed as a percentage of net earned Premiums 
 net Commission ratio — net Commission Payable as a percentage of net earned Premiums
 management expense ratio — management expense as a percentage of net earned Premiums
Combined ratio — total of net loss ratio, net Commission ratio and management expense ratio

details of industry statistics for long term insurance business and general insurance business are available on 
the insurance authority website.

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/infocenter/statistics/files/Market_Overview_ENG_2019.pdf
https://www.ia.org.hk/en/infocenter/statistics/files/Highlights_2019_LT_EN.pdf
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keY indicaTors

Unit 2017 2018 2019

daTa(a)econoMic 
 gdP (at current market prices)
 Population (Mid-year)

Per Capita gdP (at current market prices)

hk$ million

hk$

2,659,384
7,391,700

359,780

2,835,161
7,451,000

380,507

2,865,679
7,507,400

381,714

insurance density
long term business
general business

hk$
hk$

59,650
6,529

61,930
7,127

68,126
7,384

insurance Penetration
long term business
general business

%
%

16.6
1.8

16.3
1.9

17.8
1.9

insUrance MarkeT sTrUcTUre
number of authorized insurers

long term
 general

47
93

49
93

51
91

 Composite 19 19 21

 total 159 161 163

number of licensed insurance intermediaries(b)

licensed individual insurance agents
licensed technical representatives (agent)
licensed technical representatives (broker)
licensed insurance agencies
licensed insurance broker Companies

63,933
25,881

9,489
2,447

759

69,285
25,536

9,560
2,422

788

82,665
26,641

9,840
2,413

824

total 102,509 107,411 122,383

insUrance MarkeT sTaTisTics
Premium income

long term business (Office premiums)
general business (Gross premiums)

hk$ million
hk$ million

440,915
48,257

461,437
53,101

511,452
55,435

annual Growth rate
long term business
general business

%
%

8.5
6.0

4.7
10.0

10.8
4.4

individual life business
number of new Policies 1,271,068 1,289,816 1,320,196
average Premium size of new Policies
number of in-force Policies

hk$ 118,519
12,549,354

116,762
13,188,200

114,514
13,229,096

Premiums Per Capita of in-force Policies
number of in-force Policies as a Percentage of Population

hk$
%

56,151
169.8

57,220
177.0

58,641
176.2

local assets Maintained for General business(c) hk$ million 117,458 87,657 92,637
(a) data source: Census and statistics department
(b) since 23 september 2019, the insurance authority (“ia”) became the sole regulator to license and supervise all insurance intermediaries in hong 

kong. the number of licensed insurance intermediaries for 2019 were based on ia’s figures. Comparative figures for 2017 and 2018 were provided 
by the three self-regulatory Organisations, i.e. the hong kong Confederation of insurance brokers, Professional insurance brokers association
and the insurance agents registration board set up by the hong kong Federation of insurers under the self-regulatory regime.

(c) the figure for 2017 has been revised.
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PrUdenTial reGUlaTion of insUrers

the insurance authority (“ia”) is tasked with ensuring the general stability 
of the insurance industry through prudential regulation of insurers. We not 
only keep a close watch on local market activities but also collaborate with 
regulators across jurisdictions to monitor global insurance groups. during 
the reporting year, we continued to modernise our regulatory framework 
in the light of international developments.

financial exaMinaTions

as at 31 march 2020, there were 163 authorized insurers 
in hong kong. to ensure these insurers have set aside 
sufficient capital to meet their insurance obligations and 
comply with solvency requirements and other regulatory 
standards, we analyse their annual and quarterly 
financial statements and various returns. among others, 
we look at the business they have underwritten, and their 
capital adequacy, asset quality, insurance liabilities, 
actuarial reserving, and reinsurance arrangements. these 
rigorous financial examinations help us identify possible 
areas of risks that could compromise their financial 
strength and sustainability.

on-siTe insPecTions

regular on-site inspections are an integral part of our 
supervisory process. they give us a better understanding 
of the business operations of individual insurers, 
including their compliance with regulatory requirements. 
Our inspections cover reviews of corporate governance 
practices, including risk management and internal 
control systems, of business strategies and operations 
assessed against industry practices, and of adherence to 
regulatory obligations in areas such as underwriting, 
claims handling, asset management, reinsurance 
arrangements and supervision of intermediaries. We 
determine the scope and depth of each inspection based 
on the nature and level of the risks involved.
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new aUThorizaTions

any company intending to carry on insurance business in 
or from hong kong must obtain authorization to do so 
from the ia. new authorizations during the reporting year 
are summarised in the table below.

in addition, the ia granted authorization to three 
authorized general insurers allowing them to carry on 
additional classes of business.

Transfers of insUrance bUsiness

under section 24 of the insurance Ordinance (“iO”), an 
insurer that seeks to transfer its long term insurance 
business to another insurer is required to apply to the 
court for an order sanctioning the scheme of transfer, 
and the ia is entitled to be heard at the court. an insurer 
intending to transfer its general insurance business 
portfolio to another insurer may do so under section 25d 
of the iO by obtaining the approval of the ia. the sanction 
and approvals in respect of applications for these two 
types of businesses during the reporting year are 
summarised in the tables below.

new authorizations

name of insurer
Place of
incorporation

Type of
business

avo insurance Company limited hong kong general

China reinsurance (hong kong) Company limited hong kong long term

swiss re asia Pte. ltd. singapore Composite

Well link life insurance Company limited hong kong long term

Zurich life insurance (hong kong) limited hong kong long term

Transfers of insurance business
Under section 24 of the io

date of sanction by the court from To

21 november 2019 swiss reinsurance Company ltd swiss re asia Pte. ltd.

Under section 25d of the io

date of approval by the ia from To

26 april 2019 Qbe hongkong & shanghai insurance swiss re international se
limited in respect of its employees’ 
Compensation (Construction) 
business under Class 13 (general 
liability) of general business

24 June 2019 aXa Corporate solutions assurance Xl insurance Company se

16 december 2019 swiss reinsurance Company ltd swiss re asia Pte. ltd.
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MerGers and acQUisiTions

under the iO and other specific requirements imposed on 
individual insurers, authorized insurers are required to 
seek the ia’s prior approval or notify the ia regarding the 
appointment of certain shareholder controllers. during
the reporting year,  we approved changes in the
shareholder controllers of two authorized insurers in 
relation to merger and acquisition activities:

(1) On 1 november 2019, nWs holdings limited 
completed its acquisition of Ftlife insurance 
Company limited.

(2) On 13 February 2020, sino dragon holdings limited, 
Forever Joy investments limited, bC reinsurance 
limited and be reinsurance limited completed 
their respective acquisition of 16%, 16%, 14% and 
14% shareholdings (60% of shares in total) in 
united builders insurance Company, limited.

GroUP-wide sUPervision

t o  a l i g n  h o n g  k o n g ’ s  r e g u l a t o r y  r e g i m e  w i t h 
international standards and practices, the ia has 
continued to develop a new group-wide supervision
framework for multinational insurance groups, built on 
hong kong’s extensive experience in this area. based on 
a principle-based and outcome-focused approach, the 
new framework would enable the ia to exercise direct 
regulatory powers over the holding companies of 
multinational insurance groups, reinforcing hong kong’s 
position as a preferred base for large insurance groups in 
asia Pacific and a global insurance hub.

during the reporting year, the ia engaged relevant
stakeholders in the development of the group-wide 
supervision framework, which will be anchored on three 
pillars: capital requirements, risk and governance 
requirements, and disclosure requirements. a discussion 
paper on the proposed framework was issued in October 
2019 to seek the views of key stakeholders from the 
industry, professional bodies, and local and overseas 
financial regulators.

Group-wide supervisor for Prudential plc Group

in October 2019, Prudential plc completed its demerger  
of m&g plc. since the demerger, Prudential plc group has 
become an asia-led group and the ia has become group-
wide supervisor for the group’s international business 
post-demerger. the appointment of the ia to this role is a 
vote of confidence in hong kong, reaffirming the city’s 
stature as an international financial centre. during the 
reporting year, the ia worked closely with the Prudential 
regulation authority of the united kingdom and other 
regulators to ensure a smooth transition for group-wide 
supervision of Prudential plc group. in October 2019, we 
held the first supervisory college after the demerger and 
commenced extensive supervisory activities in relation to 
the group.

As the group supervisor for Prudential plc Group, the IA hosts the first 
supervisory college post-demerger 
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We also worked on legislative amendments which sought 
to provide a clear and firm legal basis for the new 
framework, with the amendment bill passed in July 2020. 
Following on from the amendment bill, there will be two 
pieces of subsidiary legislation relating to the details of 
group capital  requirements and prescribed fees 
applicable to insurance groups. in addition, the new 
framework will be supported by a series of guidelines 
issued by the ia, which will set out the principles and 
standards that the ia considers to be fundamental to 
proper governance, risk management, and other control 
aspects of insurance groups. the ia will continue to 
engage stakeholders in the development of  the 
subsidiary legislation and the guidelines.

to perform group-wide supervision effectively and 
efficiently, the ia has been collaborating with regulators 
from different jurisdictions. through supervisory colleges, 
regulators of the subsidiary insurance companies of an 
insurance group can enhance their co-operation and co-
ordination on cross-border regulatory matters. Currently, 
the ia is the group-wide supervisor for aia group, FWd 
group and Prudential plc group. between October 2019 
and may 2020, we hosted three respective supervisory 
colleges for these groups.

the ia has also played a key role in driving closer 
international  collaboration in the regulation of 
multinational insurance groups. as such, the ia has 
actively engaged in the executive Committee, various 
o t h e r  c o m m i t t e e s  a n d  w o r k i n g  g r o u p s  o f  t h e 
international association of insurance supervisors 
(“iais”),  the standard-setting body for insurance 
supervisors worldwide, in the development of the 
framework, standards and guidance in relation to group-
wide supervision. through our enhanced participation in 
iais, we have contributed to several key group-wide 
supervision initiatives, such as the implementation of the 
iais insurance Capital standard.

risk-based caPiTal reGiMe
to keep pace with the evolving global financial landscape 
and changing international standards, the ia is developing 
a risk-based Capital (“rbC”) regime, which aims to 
enhance corporate governance and risk management 
practices for the industry. under the new regime, capital 
requirements for insurers need to be commensurate with 
the risks they bear. the rbC regime will adopt a three-
pillar approach, covering quantitative aspects, qualitative 
aspects, and regulatory reporting and public disclosures. 
in addition, the regime observes relevant iais insurance 
Core Principles.

supervision of internationally active insurance Groups (“iaiGs”)

as global insurance markets become more and more 
interconnected, greater collective efforts in the 
supervision of cross-border insurance groups will be 
indispensable to mitigate systemic risks of the insurance 
sector. according to iais, iaigs are the largest and most 
complex insurers in the world, presenting supervisory 
challenges due to their international activity and size.

being the group supervisor of two iaigs1, the ia is 
committed to strengthening group-wide supervision of 
these groups to protect policy holders and the financial 
stability of the insurance industry.

in november 2019, we joined iais’s 26th annual 
Conference in abu dhabi, at which iais adopted the 

C o m m o n  F r a m e w o r k  f o r  t h e  s u p e r v i s i o n  o f 
internationally active insurance groups, establishing 
international supervisory standards and guidance for 
more co-ordinated and consistent supervision of iaigs 
across jurisdictions. From 2020 onwards, iais will start a 
five-year monitoring period of the insurance Capital 
standard that wil l  facil itate supervisory college 
discussions on iaigs’ group solvency. in addition, iais will 
adopt a holistic Framework for the assessment and 
mitigation of systemic risks in the global insurance sector. 
this will entail a global monitoring exercise comprising 
individual insurer monitoring, sector-wide monitoring, 
collective discussion and robust implementation 
assessment.

1 aia group and Prudential plc group
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regarding quantitative aspects under Pillar 1, the ia 
launched a third round of Quantitative impact studies 
(“Qis”) in august 2019 to collect industry data and assess 
the impact of the proposed capital requirements on the 
capital adequacy of insurers. the Qis assisted the ia in
understanding the impact of the solvency regime change 
and in forming a holistic view of policy decisions to be 
made under the rbC regime. in april 2020, the ia shared 
observations from the Qis data with the industry. We 
target to carry out a public consultation in 2021 on the 
draft capital rules of the new regime. this should pave 
the way for introducing the legislative proposals to the 
legislative Council by 2022 for implementation with an
appropriate run-in period.

in relation to qualitative requirements under Pillar 2, the 
ia issued the guideline on enterprise risk management 
(gl21) in July 2019. the guideline, which came into effect 
on 1 January 2020, lays down requirements for the 
enterprise risk management framework and mandates 
the submission of Own risk and solvency assessment 
reports.

Preparatory work on Pillar 3 concerning disclosure 
requirements under the new regime will commence later 
i n  2 0 2 0 .  W e  w i l l  m a i n t a i n  c l o s e  d i a l o g u e  w i t h 
stakeholders and plan to launch an industry consultation 
in 2021.

reGUlaTorY iniTiaTives

during the reporting year, the ia issued a number of
guidelines to enhance the regulatory regime.

With the launch of the direct regulatory regime for 
insurance intermediaries on 23 september 2019, the ia 
became responsible for all aspects of the regulation of 
industry practitioners, including market conduct. during 
the reporting year, the ia issued six sets of guidelines 
relating to the sale of long term insurance policies. these 
guidelines, also effective from 23 september 2019, cover 
various aspects of conduct during the selling process, as 
s h o w n  i n  t h e  t a b l e  b e l o w .  t o  p r o m o t e  b e t t e r 
understanding of the new guidelines among insurers and 
insurance intermediaries, the ia has issued interpretation 
notes and conducted town hall briefings.

given the increase in online activities and digital 
operations, cyber risks have become a major operational 
risk for insurers. to help insurers establish resilient 
cybersecurity frameworks, the ia issued the guideline on 
Cybersecurity (gl20) in June 2019. gl20, effective from 
1 January 2020,  sets the minimum standard for 
cybersecurity that authorized insurers are expected to 
have in place and the general guiding principles which 
the ia uses in assessing the effectiveness of an insurer’s 
cybersecurity framework.

the year under review
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Guidelines Governing the sale of long Term insurance Policies

guideline on Offering of gifts (gl25)

guideline on sale of investment-linked assurance scheme (“ilas”) Products (gl26)

guideline on long term insurance Policy replacement (gl27)

guideline on benefit illustrations for long term insurance Policies (gl28)

guideline on Cooling-off Period (gl29)

guideline on Financial needs analysis (gl30)



I n s u r a n c e  A u t h o r i t y  

The Year Under Review 

16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

 

PRUDENT IAL  REGULAT ION  

Regulatory Relief and Response to COVID-19 

During the unprecedented times brought by the COVID-19 
pandemic since early 2020, the IA’s role as Hong Kong’s 
insurance regulator has become more important than 
ever. While our mandate is to preserve the general 
stability of the insurance industry and protect policy 
holders, we have appreciated the challenges that the 
insurance sector has had to face as a result of the 
coronavirus, introducing a number of relief measures to 
help to tide the industry over this period. 

In February 2020, the IA rolled out a set of temporary 
facilitative measures so that transactions for Qualifying 
Deferred Annuity Policy and Voluntary Health Insurance 
Scheme products could take place without face-to-face 
interactions. Compensatory features, such as disclosure 
of important product information at the point-of-sale 
and an extended cooling-off period of no less than 30 
calendar days were introduced to ensure fair treatment 
for customers. These facilitative measures were extended 
in March 2020 to cover term life policies, refundable 
policies without substantial saving component and 
renewable policies without cash value1. The measures 
sought to reduce the risk of infection during the selling 
process and were well-received by the industry,  
successfully redirecting public attention towards simple 
protection products. 

With a looming global economic downturn, the IA 
intensified its surveillance on macro-prudential risks to 
ascertain the impact of market volatilities on the industry. 
We stepped up monitoring of the solvency position of 
insurers and conducted stress tests to gauge their capital 
and liquidity status. To keep up our inspection plan, we 
made use of teleconferences and videoconferences to 
conduct inspections and maintain close communication 
with insurers. 

To help the industry overcome the challenges posed by 
the pandemic, we also adopted a more supportive 
regulatory approach. For example, insurers were allowed 
to apply to defer submission of annual filing documents. 
For new guidelines relating to consumer protection 
under the direct regulatory regime of insurance 
intermediaries, full compliance will only be observed 
from 1 April 20212 to give a sufficient buffer for updating 
relevant documentation, controls and processes. In 
addition, we worked with the Actuarial Society of Hong 
Kong to offer flexibility in investment valuation for life 
insurers. Moreover, the IA continued to proactively 
promote wider adoption of technology. This move has 
been welcomed by the industry, with a number of 
insurers taking advantage of the Insurtech Sandbox to 
launch virtual onboarding initiatives. In this regard, the IA 
issued a circular in August 2020 setting out the relevant 
requirements. As of June 2020, five trial projects on virtual 
on boarding were launched under the Insurtech Sandbox. 

One-off facilitative measures were also provided for 
insurance intermediaries. Insurance broker companies 
were given leeway to apply to defer submission of their 
audited accounts. For individual licensees, Continuing 
Professional Development (“CPD”) assessment periods 
for 2019–20 and 2020–21 have been merged, with 
fulfillment and reporting deadlines for the combined 
period rescheduled to 2021. To further facilitate 
individual licensees in satisfying their CPD requirements 
through non-face-to-face platforms, the IA raised the cap 
on e-learning CPD hours to a maximum of 14 hours for 
the combined period, with no limit to CPD activities 
delivered via virtual classroom platforms. 

1 In view of the pandemic development, the IA decided to extend the temporary facilitative measures to 31 December 2020. 
2 This applies to GL25, GL27 to GL31. 

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/legislative_framework/circulars/reg_matters/files/Circular_25052020.pdf
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Regulatory Relief and Response to COVID-19 (Continued) 
Regarding regulatory collaboration to mitigate the 
COVID-19 impact,  we worked closely with fellow 
regulators and the Government to ensure the financial 
stability of Hong Kong. On the international front, the IA 
joined forces with regulators across jurisdictions to 
assess the impact of COVID-19 on the global insurance 
sector. To this end, we took part in an IAIS survey to 
facilitate information exchange among insurance 
supervisors worldwide. We also hosted thematic 
supervisory colleges to exchange views with insurance 
supervisors overseas regarding the impact of COVID-19 
specific to the three insurance groups under our group-
wide supervision. 

PRUDENT IAL  REGULAT ION  

Meanwhile, the industry took a number of voluntary  
measures to ease the burden of policy holders. These  
measures included extension of the grace period for  
premium payments to a maximum of 180 days, expansion 
of medical coverage, relaxation of hospital restrictions as  
well as simplified and expedited procedures for claims  
related to COVID-19. According to a survey released by The 
Hong Kong Federation of Insurers in June 2020, over 32,000  
travel insurance policies have been granted refund,  
representing premiums of over HK$9.6 million. In total, the 
industry has offered to defer the receipt of payment of  
annualised premiums exceeding HK$8.4 billion. These  
results are another testament to the pivotal function of  
insurance in trying times. 
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The Year Under review
PrUdenTial reGUlaTion of insUrance inTerMediaries

year 2019 saw a new chapter of hong kong insurance regulation with the 
transition from the self-regulatory regime1 for the supervision of insurance 
intermediaries to the new direct regulatory regime implemented by the 
insurance authority (“ia”). the new regime aims to strengthen the 
professional standards of insurance intermediaries and enhance 
protection for existing and potential policy holders.

direcT reGUlaTorY reGiMe

since 23 september 2019, the ia has become the sole 
insurance regulator in hong kong, directly regulating
more than 120,000 insurance intermediaries with 
regulatory powers in relation to licensing, inspection, 
investigation and disciplinary sanctions.

to assist the transition, insurance intermediaries holding 
a valid registration with a former self-regulatory 
O r g a n i s a t i o n  ( “ s r O ” )  i m m e d i a t e l y  b e f o r e  t h e 
commencement of the new regime were automatically 
deemed to have a licence to carry on regulated activities 
under the new regime for three years. these deemed 
licensees are expected to apply for their first new licence 
under the new regime during this three-year transitional
period. With ongoing communication with industry 
stakeholders, the ia has proposed measures to ensure 
the application process for deemed licensees is both
efficient and effective.

as regards applications for new licences (i.e. new entrants 
to the industry), during the period from 23 september
2019 to 31 march 2020, the ia received around 10,000 
such applications. the ia had the challenge of addressing 
this influx right at the outset of the new regime, which 
was compounded by paper applications, an unusually 
large number of terminations having to be processed at 
year end, and certain common misunderstandings about 
information requirements and the appropriate forms to 
use. to cope, we redeployed our internal manpower to 
handle the unexpected workload and ensure leeway was 
allowed for colleagues to gain practical experience. in 
december 2019, the situation largely stabilised and 
improved.

1 under the self-regulatory regime, insurance intermediaries were regulated by three self-regulatory Organisations, namely the hong kong 
Confederation of insurance brokers (“Cib”), the Professional insurance brokers association (“Piba”) and the insurance agents registration board 
set up by the hong kong Federation of insurers (“hkFi”).
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new regulatory standards and requirements
in developing the suite of rules, codes of conduct and
guidelines which took effect on 23 september 2019
setting the standards and regulatory requirements for the 
new regime, the ia proactively elicited views from the 
insurance industry and the public. the numerous 
consultations afforded the ia the opportunity to 
introduce and engage with a wide spectrum of 
stakeholders across society, including the former srOs. 
the entire consultative process has helped to align
regulatory expectations between the ia and the industry 
and achieve the right balance between protection and 
practicality. in developing the standards, the ia also 
made reference to the requirements previously set by the 
former srOs as well as the international standards issued 
by the international association of insurance supervisors. 
during the reporting year, the ia issued seven sets of 
rules, codes and guidelines in relation to the regulation 
of insurance intermediaries.

to provide further guidance on the new requirements,
the ia published two explanatory notes on licensing 
requirements for employees of authorized insurers and
licensing requirements for the banking sector in 
november 2018 and October 2019 respectively. the ia 
also issued two sets of frequently asked questions 
relating to the financial requirements for insurance 
broker companies, and the licensing process and 
requirements for insurance intermediaries in november 
2019 and January 2020 respectively.

enhancing regulatory efficiency
to increase our operational efficiency for the regulation 
of over 120,000 intermediaries, the ia developed a new it 
system to digitalise the licence application process and 
facilitate the transfer of data and records from the former 
srOs to the ia, including details of registrations, 
complaints, disciplinary actions and appeals in relation 
to insurance intermediaries. With an electronic workflow 
in place, we have streamlined licensing, complaint 
handling, investigations and disciplinary proceedings.

the new system also encompassed an online portal for 
the industry to submit electronic licence applications. by 
going digital, we were able to expedite our internal review 
process and the handling of licensing applications, with 
the portal offering faster data access, easier application 
monitoring, simpler record-keeping and shortened 
approval time, increasing the transparency of our 
regulatory processes and efficiency. the portal also 
enables seasonal increases in applications to be
processed with the same degree of efficiency. as of

rules, codes and Guidelines in relation to the regulation of insurance intermediaries

insurance (maximum number of authorized insurers) rules

insurance (Financial and Other requirements for licensed insurance broker Companies) rules

Code of Conduct for licensed insurance agents

Code of Conduct for licensed insurance brokers

guideline on exercising Power to impose Pecuniary Penalty in respect of regulated Persons under the insurance 
Ordinance (Cap. 41) (gl22)

guideline on “Fit and Proper Criteria” for licensed insurance intermediaries under the insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41) 
(gl23)

guideline on Continuing Professional development for licensed insurance intermediaries (gl24)



I n s u r a n c e  A u t h o r i t y

the year under review
P R u d e n t I A l  R e g u l A t I O n  O f  I n s u R A n c e  I n t e R M e d I A R I e s

20

march 2020, the ia granted access to the online portal to 
corporate accounts for 46 insurers, 52 insurance agencies 
and 190 insurance broker companies. individual licensees
appointed by these insurers, agencies and broker 
companies account for around 70% of the total number 
of individual licensees in hong kong, and many of these 
individuals also activated individual accounts for the
online portal. We saw a substantial increase in online 
portal usage during the COVid-19 pandemic in the first 
half of 2020. it is expected that portal usage will further 
increase in the second half of 2020 as the industry 
becomes more familiar with it.

e-learning
to encourage e-learning, the ia allows individual 
licensees to earn up to five2 Continuing Professional 
development (“CPd”) hours in each assessment year by 
undertaking e-learning activities as defined in the 
guideline on Continuing Professional development for 
licensed insurance intermediaries (gl24). From march
2020 onwards, the ia also started to accept CPd activities 
delivered in virtual classroom mode, which uses video
conferencing to replace physical face-to-face learning. 
this allows insurance intermediaries to fulfil CPd
requirements by taking both e-learning and virtual
classroom courses.

ethics Promotion campaign for the insurance industry

We attach great importance to the professionalism and 
probity of insurance intermediaries. to raise awareness 
of corruption risks and the importance of professional 
ethics, the ia and the independent Commission against 
Corruption (“iCaC”) have jointly organised a two-year 
ethics promotion campaign for the insurance industry 
commencing in 2019.

the campaign, entitled “integrity for success”, features 
an online learning course and e-CPd module covering 
topics ranging from anti-corruption laws to common 
integrity issues. the e-CPd module, jointly launched by 
the iCaC and hkFi, is one of the first such courses under 
“ethics or regulations” in gl24.

to make learning more engaging, video clips, animations 
and online quizzes are used to highlight corruption risks 
and ethical challenges faced by insurance practitioners. 
to provide more comprehensive educational resources, 

a dedicated website was also launched, with case 
studies, feature articles and integrity messages that 
address ethical concerns and corruption prevention 
needs specific to the insurance industry.

The IA and the ICAC have jointly launched an ethics promotion 
campaign entitled “Integrity for Success” for the insurance industry

2 as part of COVid-19 facilitative measures, the maximum number of CPd hours for e-learning activities for each of the first two CPd assessment 
years (i.e. for 2019-20 and 2020-21) was increased from five CPd hours to seven CPd hours.  in other words, a maximum of 14 CPd hours can be 
earned via e-learning activities for the first two assessment years.

https://hkbedc.icac.hk/insurance/elearning/en/#this
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number of licensed insurance intermediaries by licence Type (as at 31 March 2020)
number of 

number of licensees 
licensees with without Total 

appointing appointing number of 
licensed insurance intermediaries principals principals licensees

individual licensees
licensed individual insurance agents 80,242 5,045 85,287
licensed technical representatives (agent)(a) 26,027 1,241 27,268
licensed technical representatives (broker) 9,781 433 10,214

Total number of individual licensees 116,050 6,719 122,769

business entities
licensed insurance agencies(a) 2,389 23 2,412
licensed insurance broker Companies n/a n/a 825

Total number of licensed insurance intermediaries 126,006
(a) there were 41 authorized institutions (i.e. banks) registered as licensed insurance agencies, with around 19,430 individuals registered as their 

licensed technical representatives (agent).

insUrance broker coMPanies

On-site inspection is an effective supervisory tool for 
assessing insurance broker companies’  level  of 
compliance. From april to september 2019, the ia 
conducted on-site inspections of eight insurance broker 
companies to assess their compliance with relevant 
r e g u l a t o r y  r e q u i r e m e n t s  s u c h  a s  t h e  m i n i m u m 
requirements for insurance brokers, anti-money 
laundering requirements, and conduct requirements for 
mandatory Provident Fund business. the inspections also 
afforded the opportunity to gain an understanding of 
their corporate culture and internal controls. We 
identified a total of 42 internal control deficiencies and 
potential non-compliances. the insurance broker 
companies concerned were required to take remedial 
actions.

throughout the reporting year, we also maintained close 
dialogue with the industry, including the two major 
insurance broker bodies, the Cib and Piba, on the 
implementation of the new regulatory regime.

insUrance aGencies

to prepare for the direct regulation of insurance agencies 
and obtain a broad and general understanding of this 

segment, the ia undertook a market survey in mid-2019 
to collect business and financial information from 
insurance agencies. the survey’s response rate was 96% 
and the results were published on the ia website in 
december 2019.

during the reporting year, the ia also carried out its first 
on-site inspection of a licensed insurance agency and 
conducted supervisory reviews of three licensed 
insurance agencies under the new regulatory regime, in 
order to assess their readiness for compliance with the 
conduct and corporate governance requirements set out 
in the Code of Conduct for licensed insurance agents. 
any control deficiencies identified will result in the ia 
requiring remedial actions to be taken.

With regard to the regulation of banks in their capacity as 
insurance agencies, the ia has delegated its frontline 
inspection and investigation powers to the monetary 
authority. the ia and the monetary authority signed a 
memorandum of understanding in July 2019 setting out 
the roles and responsibilities of both regulators and 
providing a framework for co-operation between them in 
respect of the regulation and supervision of banks that 
carry on regulated activities.

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/infocenter/statistics/agencysurvey.html
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enforceMenT acTions
as part of the new regulatory regime and to provide 
better protection for policy holders, the ia has been 
provided with express powers under the insurance 
Ordinance (“iO”) to initiate investigations and impose a 
range of disciplinary sanctions on regulated persons. 
r e g u l a t e d  p e r s o n s  i n c l u d e  l i c e n s e d  i n s u r a n c e 
intermediaries and, in the case of licensed insurance 
broker companies and licensed insurance agencies, their 
responsible officers and the persons concerned in the 
m a n a g e m e n t  o f  t h e i r  r e g u l a t e d  a c t i v i t i e s .  t h e 
circumstances under which the ia may initiate a formal 
investigation are set out in the iO.

upon commencement of the new regulatory regime, the 
ia received a total of 280 unresolved investigations, 
disciplinary proceedings and appeal cases from the 
former srOs. all cases received from the former srOs, 
and other cases of alleged contravention that occurred 
before 23 september 2019 but came to light after that 
date, are required to be handled by the ia by reference to 
the applicable rules (such as the codes, guidance notes 
and guidelines issued by the former srOs) that would 
have applied to the cases had they been handled by the 
former srO concerned. to promote transparency, the ia 
has gazetted all these applicable rules, which are 
available on the ia website for reference. as of march 
2020, 99 of the 280 unresolved cases had been closed. in 
closing these cases, various supervisory actions were 
taken against the insurance intermediaries concerned, 
including the issuance of Compliance advice letters.

in relation to misconduct and contraventions taking 
place after 23 september 2019, the ia handles such cases 
in accordance with the new iO provisions as well as the 
current rules, codes and guidelines issued by the ia.

the ia may take disciplinary actions against a regulated 
person if the person is guilty of misconduct, or when the 
person is, in the opinion of the ia, not fit and proper. 
before the ia exercises its disciplinary powers, the 
regulated person concerned wil l  always have a 
reasonable opportunity of being heard.

to ensure that our investigation and disciplinary 
proceeding processes are fair, impartial and robust, we 
have taken into account the views of the industry, 
including the former srOs, and made reference to the 
practices of local and overseas financial regulators during 
the development of the relevant procedures. to enhance 
the industry’s understanding of our investigation and 
disciplinary proceeding process, several briefing sessions 
were held for the members of the former srOs in 
september 2019 and details of the disciplinary process 
have been published on the ia website.

a regulated person, if aggrieved by the disciplinary 
decision of the ia, may apply in writing to the insurance 
appeals tribunal (“iat”) for the decision to be reviewed. 
the iat is an independent quasi-judicial body which has 
the jurisdiction to review, among other matters, 
disciplinary decisions made by the ia under the iO.

as required under the iO, the records of disciplinary 
sanctions taken against insurance intermediaries by the 
former srOs for the past five years have also been made 
available on the register of  licensed insurance 
intermediaries on the ia’s website for public review.

The direct regulatory regime for insurance intermediaries — investigation and disciplinary 
actions

Investigation

Conduct
Investigation

Notice

Notice of Proposed
Disciplinary Action

Response

Oral/Written
Representation

Decision

Notice of
Decision

Appeal

Insurance Appeals
Tribunal

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/supervision/reg_ins_intermediaries/applicable_rules_issued_by_the_SROs.html
https://www.ia.org.hk/en/enforcement/lii/files/Overview_of_Disciplinary_Process_en.pdf
https://www.iat.gov.hk/en/index.html
https://iir.ia.org.hk/#/index
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consUMer ProTecTion

the insurance authority (“ia”) strives to safeguard the interests of the 
insuring public. in 2019–20, we undertook a host of initiatives in line with 
this goal, including working with the government on its proposal to create 
a Policy holders’ Protection scheme (“PPs”) and issuing guidelines on 
conducting insurance business.

PolicY holders’ ProTecTion scheMe

to provide a safety net for policy holders in the event of
an insurer’s insolvency, the government has introduced a 
proposal to establish a PPs. the proposed scheme would 
cover most types of direct life and non-life policies,
benefitting individual policy holders, small and medium 
enterprises and owners’ corporations. if an insurer 
become insolvent ,  the PPs would pay the f i rst 
hk$100,000 of any claim and 80% of the remaining 
balance, up to hk$1 million per policy, per claim or per 
insured event, whichever is applicable.

during the reporting year, the ia worked closely with the 
government on preparing draft legislation for the PPs. a 
consultancy study was commissioned to give an updated 
assessment of the key parameters of the scheme, 
including target fund sizes and levy rates. the bill is 
expected to be introduced into the legislative Council in 
the second half of 2021.



I n s u r a n c e  A u t h o r i t y24

the year under review
c O n s u M e R  P R O t e c t I O n

coMPlainT handlinG

in 2019–20, the ia received a total of 1,292 complaint
cases. the top three complaint categories concerned 
conduct, representation of information and insurers’
business or operations.1

there were 222 complaint cases that could not be 
disposed of by the former self-regulatory Organisations2

before the commencement of the new direct regulatory 
regime for insurance intermediaries on 23 september
2019. these cases have been transferred to the ia for
further handling.

reGUlaTinG sellinG and afTer-sales 
Processes

during the reporting year, the ia issued a number of
guidelines to ensure fair treatment of policy holders.

to step up regulation of selling and after-sales processes 
under the new direct regulatory regime for insurance 
intermediaries commencing on 23 september 2019, the
ia has refined the codes and guidelines governing the 
sale of long term insurance policies issued by the hong 
kong Federation of insurers. the ia has not only reviewed 
these codes and guidelines for ensuring fair treatment of 
customers, but also proactively sought the industry’s 
views on implementation matters. during the reporting 
year, the ia issued six sets of guidelines relating to the 
offering of gifts, sale of investment-linked assurance
scheme products ,  pol icy  replacement ,  benef i t 
illustrations, cooling-off period and financial needs 
analysis, which took effect from 23 september 2019.

29%

18%
18%

15%

15%

4%
1%

1,292

Business or Operations

Conduct

Representation of
Information

Claims

Service

Others

Insurance Intermediary against Insurer

complaints

summary of complaints in 2019-20

to ensure fair treatment for consumer in all aspects of 
medical insurance business, the ia published the 
guideline on medical insurance business (gl31)3 in 
november 2019, providing guidance on the minimum 
standards and practices for insurers and insurance 
intermediaries. gl31 covers all  types of medical 
insurance business, including both individual and group 
medical insurance policies. in preparing gl31, the ia  
took comments from the insurance industry and various 
stakeholders into account, and made reference to the 
insurance Core Principles, standards, guidance and 
assessment methodology (“iCP”) promulgated by the 
international association of insurance supervisors, in 
particular iCP 19 on fair treatment of customers.

1 details of complaint categories available on the ia website.
2 the former self-regulatory Organisations comprise: the hong kong Confederation of insurance brokers, the Professional insurance brokers 

association and the insurance agents registration board set up by the hong kong Federation of insurers.
3 gl31 will take effect from 23 september 2020.  as a relief measure to help the industry cope with the impact of the COVid-19 pandemic, the ia will 

adopt a flexible approach in determining if requirements under gl31 have been observed for a period up to 31 march 2021 and require full 
compliance from 1 april 2021.

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/infocenter/statistics/files/Summary_Complaints_received_by_IA_20190401_20200331_Eng.pdf
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in addition to prudential regulation of the insurance industry, the 
insurance authority (“ia”) strives to reinforce hong kong’s position as a 
global risk management centre and a regional reinsurance and insurance 
hub. to this end, we have launched a number of market development 
initiatives to help the industry seize business opportunities, in particular 
those arising from the belt and road initiative (“bri”) and development of 
the guangdong-hong kong-macao greater bay area (“gba”). moreover, we 
proactively promote insurtech to inject greater vitality and diversity into 
the local market.

The belT and road iniTiaTive

the bri is a grand vision to connect asia, africa and 
europe through multibillion-dollar infrastructure projects 
and investments across nations. being exposed to a 
multitude of specialty risks (e.g. catastrophe, political, 
war and trade-related risks) given the high complexity of 
these projects, state-owned enterprises (“sOes”)
investing overseas need effective risk management and 
insurance solutions to improve the bankability of their 
projects and to secure financing. With its strong presence 
of international insurers, reinsurers and insurance 
brokers that have the expertise and experience in insuring 
multinational projects, hong kong is uniquely positioned 
to provide professional risk management services and 
comprehensive insurance coverage for bri projects. to 
bring more bri business to hong kong, our market 
development strategy entails four pillars covering 
reinsurance, captive insurance, marine and specialty risk 
insurance, and insurance-linked securities (“ils”). these 
pillars will help to attract stakeholders in the value chain 
to increase their presence in hong kong, building a bri-
related insurance ecosystem.

reinsurance
to further the development of reinsurance business in 
hong kong, particularly reinsurance placement for bri 
projects, we have been working with the China banking 
and insurance regulatory Commission (“CbirC”) on
obtaining preferential  treatment for hong kong 
reinsurers. With the support of the Central government, 
the ia and CbirC reached a consensus in July 2018 that 
under the “China risk Oriented solvency system”, the
capital requirement on mainland insurers would be
reduced when they cede business to qualified hong kong 
professional reinsurers, rendering hong kong reinsurers 
more competitive in obtaining reinsurance business from 
the mainland. in return, hong kong reinsurers could 
leverage their strengths to help mainland insurers manage 
solvency volatility in the event of major catastrophe losses. 
in July 2019, the CbirC extended this preferential 
treatment to 30 June 2020. as of march 2020, five hong
kong-based professional reinsurers had qualified and 
benefited from the arrangement. between 2018 and 2019, 
qualified hong kong professional reinsurers achieved an
annual growth rate of 21% for the gross written premiums 
of their mainland business.
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asian insurance forum
to drive growth and prosperity for the insurance markets 
in hong kong and asia, the ia organised the second asian 
insurance Forum in december 2019.

the annual flagship event gathered around 500 local and 
international delegates, including financial regulators, 
industry leaders and academics, to exchange views on 

some of the most pertinent topics relating to the 
insurance industry under the theme “Connectivity and 
innovat ion — the key  to  Compet i t iveness  and 
inclusiveness”, with a special emphasis on bri and gba 
development. the forum received overwhelming 
response, and the ia will continue to host this kind of 
high-level platform to help set direction and strategies for 
future evolvement of the insurance industry.

mrs Carrie lam, Chief 
executive of the hong 
kong special 
administrative region, 
officiates at the asian 
insurance Forum 2019 

mr liu Fushou, Chief 
Counsel of the China 

banking and insurance 
regulatory Commission, 

gives a keynote speech

the Financial secretary, mr Paul Chan, 
speaking at the forum

dr moses Cheng, Chairman, delivers 
the opening remarks
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in addition, hong kong’s role as a major reinsurance hub 
has been augmented by the presence of the largest 
reinsurance group in asia. in december 2019, the ia 
granted new authorization to a local subsidiary of China 
reinsurance group to carry on long term business in or 
from hong kong. this newcomer provides reinsurance 
solutions to insurers operating in hong kong and asia.

captive insurance
Functioning like an offshore financial centre within 
national boundaries, hong kong is an ideal domicile for 
mainland enterprises, especially sOes, to set up captive 
insurers and manage risks associated with their bri 
investments. having a risk management vehicle within a 
group of companies in the form of a captive insurer 
induces the group to implement appropriate controls, 
and improve its safety and business practices. Captive 
insurers thus provide multinational groups with the 
ability to deploy holistic risk management strategies.

Currently, there are four captive insurers authorized in 
hong kong. to further strengthen the role of captive 
insurers as an intra-group risk management centre, we 
formulated legislative amendments to expand the scope 
of insurable risks of captive insurers in hong kong, and 
the amendment bill was passed in July 2020. to make 
hong kong more appealing as a captive domicile, a 50% 
concession in the profit tax rate on insurance business of 
onshore and offshore risks has been granted.

Following the consensus reached between the ia and the 
state-owned assets supervision and administration 
Commission of the state Council (“sasaC”) in February 
2019, we continued our efforts to maintain regular liaison 
and reach out to sOes. in July 2019, the ia participated in 
the second high-level belt and road roundtable co-
organised by the hong kong monetary authority’s 
infrastructure Financing Facilitation Office (“iFFO”) and 
sasaC. during the roundtable, we shared our views on 
how setting up captives could help sOes to leverage the 
competitive edge of hong kong as a comprehensive 
financing and risk management centre for their overseas 
investment and international expansion.

Marine and specialty risk insurance
to consolidate hong kong’s position as a major 
international insurance hub, the government has put 
forward legislative amendments to halve the profit tax 
rate for non-life insurers and insurance broker companies 
involved in marine insurance and the underwriting of
specialty risks. the relevant legislative amendments were 
passed in July 2020. this measure could help hong kong 
capture more bri business and support the development 
of high value-added maritime services by lowering the 
operating costs  of  non-l i fe  insurers  and broker 
companies involved in bri and marine insurance. We will 
continue to look at different regulatory incentives as well 
as facilitative measures to invigorate hong kong’s marine 
and specialty risk insurance market. to achieve this, we 
hosted forums in June and november 2019 to provide a 
platform for continuous dialogue between the ia and the 
Protection and indemnity community in hong kong.

insurance-linked securities
as the globe is increasingly exposed to natural disasters 
such as typhoons and earthquakes, there are growing 
demands for risk transfer against catastrophic risks. ils 
such as  catastrophe bonds are alternative r isk
management tools for transferring insurance risk to the
capital market. they will not only improve the capacity of 
the insurance industry, but also give institutional 
investors additional options for diversifying their 
investment risks.

as the risk exposure of ils is currently focused on the 
united states and europe, there is strong potential for 
asia. as an international financial centre with ample 
liquidity, free flow of capital, a sound legal system as well 
as a wealth of talent in insurance and securities, hong
kong has what it takes to become a preferred ils market.

the year under review
M A R k e t  d e v e l O P M e n t
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As announced in the 2018 Policy Address and the 2019–20 
Budget, the Government supports the formation of 
special purpose vehicles for issuing ILS in Hong Kong. In 
N o v e m b e r  2 0 1 9 ,  t h e  C e n t r a l  G o v e r n m e n t  a l s o 
encouraged Mainland insurers to issue catastrophe 
bonds in Hong Kong, cementing the city’s position as a 
risk management centre catering to the needs of the BRI 
and GBA.

During the reporting year, the IA prepared the legislative 
amendments to provide for a bespoke, streamlined 
regulatory framework for the issuance of ILS through the 
formation of special purpose insurers. The amendment 
bill was passed in July 2020. To create a sustainable and 
vibrant market environment, the IA is establishing 
working groups comprising stakeholders along the value 
chain, such as Mainland regulators, reinsurers, ILS 
experts, legal advisors, investors and professional service 
providers. These working groups will seek industry 
feedback on the proposed regulatory framework and iron 
out the implementation details.

Connecting BRI Stakeholders
To help BRI project owners and investors identify their 
risk management and insurance needs and derive 
optimal solutions, the IA has set up the Belt and Road 
Insurance Exchange Facilitation (“BRIEF”) platform. The 
platform aims to bring together key stakeholders to 
unleash synergies for exploiting prospects arising from 
BRI. To this end, the IA has set up a sitelet to facilitate 
exchange of intelligence among BRIEF members and 
other stakeholders. As of March 2020, the number of 
BRIEF members had grown to 41, including insurers, 
reinsurers, captive insurers, insurance brokers and law 
firms. During the reporting year, BRIEF and IFFO jointly 
published an article on the strategic roles of insurance 
and guarantee in project risk management, giving insight 
for the development of risk management strategy.

Mr Simon Lam, Executive Director, General Business (far left), 
speaking at the Belt and Road Summit

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/portal_for_insurers/brief/belt_and_road_insurance_exchange_facilitation.html
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during the reporting year, we continued our engagement 
activities for bri stakeholders. in september 2019, the ia
hosted a thematic breakout forum at the belt and road 
summit co-organised by the government and the hong 
kong trade development Council. at the forum, we
discussed how insurance and project finance are 
interlinked to underpin the commercial viability of 
enterprises with bri projects, especially sOes.

GreaTer baY area

the fundamental policy objective underlying the gba
development is  to leverage the complementary 
advantages of 11 cities in the region to smoothen the 
flow of people, goods, capital and information, thereby 
creating a dynamic cluster to achieve co-ordinated 
economic development. in keeping with this vision, the 
Outline development Plan for the gba promulgated in 
F e b r u a r y  2 0 1 9  d r a w s  u p  a  b l u e p r i n t  f o r  c l o s e r 
collaboration and mutual support among the cities, 
including a number of initiatives relevant to the insurance 
industry in hong kong such as joint development of 

innovative cross-boundary motor vehicle and medical 
insurance products. We will work closely with relevant 
mainland authorities to implement initiatives contained 
in the Outline development Plan. We will also continue to 
pursue the proposed setting up of after-sale service 
centres in the gba catering for people holding policies 
issued by hong kong insurers. during the reporting year, 
the ia led delegations with representatives of the hong 
kong Federation of insurers (“hkFi”) and other industry 
stakeholders to meet with mainland authorities to 
exchange ideas on promoting various gba initiatives.

to provide greater convenience for using the hong kong-
Zhuhai-macao bridge, we spared no effort in facilitating 
procurement of statutory motor insurance under the 
different regulatory regimes of hong kong, the mainland 
and macao. specifically, the ia met in may 2019 with the 
hkFi and seven insurers providing coverage for vehicles 
accessing the bridge, urging them to explore product 
innovation for greater user convenience.
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insUrTech and virTUal insUrers

since september 2017, the ia has provided Fast track 
and the insurtech sandbox to  foster  insurtech 
development in hong kong.

under Fast track, a dedicated queue is available to
expedite new authorization sought by applicants 
proposing to rely only on digital distribution channels,
without recourse to insurance intermediaries. the first 
case was granted in 2018. three more virtual insurers
were authorized by the ia between October 2019 and may 
2020. in total, there are two long term and two general 
virtual insurers, striving to tap into underserved market 
segments while improving customer experience and 
achieving a better value proposition. eventually, 
insurtech will help to redefine insurance and deepen 
financial inclusiveness.

the insurtech sandbox enables authorized insurers to 
test innovative applications of new technology in a 
controlled environment and demonstrate broad 
compliance with prevailing supervisory requirements. as
of June 2020, 13 pilot trials had been granted, including
five relating to virtual onboarding initiatives.

the insurtech Facilitation team set up by the ia remains 
in close touch with insurers and the technology 
community,  solicit ing advice on and enhancing
understanding of the current regulatory regime. during 
the reporting year, the team handled around 70 enquiries 
a n d  h e l d  m o r e  t h a n  4 0  m e e t i n g s  w i t h  v a r i o u s 
stakeholders, including local and international insurers,
Fintech firms, regulators and industry organisations.

Green and sUsTainable finance

Climate change has become a major source of peril for 
the global economy and green finance is gathering 
m o m e n t u m  w o r l d w i d e .  i n  t h e  f a c e  o f  r i s i n g 
environmental risks, insurers could play multiple roles in 
helping society to achieve climate change goals and 
targets by contributing to green finance, by assisting 
people and corporates to assess and mitigate their 
environmental r isk exposures,  by designing and 
marketing green insurance products, and by shaping the 
behaviour of asset owners and managers through long-
term investment.

in may 2020, the ia attended the inaugural meeting of the 
green and sustainable Finance Cross-agency steering 
group together with the hong kong monetary authority, 
the securities and Futures Commission, hong kong 
exchanges and Clearing limited, the mandatory 
Provident Fund schemes authority, the environment 
bureau as well as the Financial services and the treasury 
bureau. the steering group will accord priority to 
regulatory policy and market development, bolstering 
the status of hong kong as a leading green and 
sustainable finance centre in asia and the world.

Hong Kong financial regulators and government officials attend the 
inaugural meeting of the Green and Sustainable Finance Cross-
Agency Steering Group
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bridging the Protection Gap
despite growing affluence, many asian economies 
including hong kong, still experience glaring protection 
gaps. driven by mainstream demands, the long term 
sector is dominated by products with embedded savings 
or investment features. to expand the product mix for
better protection, the ia has been a strong advocate for 
the Qualifying deferred annuity Policy (“QdaP”) and 
Voluntary health insurance scheme (“Vhis”) products.

to encourage voluntary savings, the ia was tasked by the 
government to launch QdaP, which was achieved in april 
2019, QdaPs are tax deductible and yield a stable income 
stream for retirement planning. as at march 2020, the ia 

had certified 24 QdaPs1 offered by 19 long term insurers 
with around 133,000 policies issued, generating total 
annualised premiums of hk$9.4 billion. the average age 
of policy holders is 47.5 years and average annualised 
premiums are around hk$71,000 per policy, surpassing 
the tax deduction limit of hk$60,000. meanwhile, demand 
f o r  h e a l t h c a r e  s e r v i c e s  i s  r i s i n g  a m i d s t  r a p i d 
demographical changes. the ia partnered with the Food 
and health bureau in april 2019 to launch Vhis which is 
also eligible for tax deduction, and over 522,000 Vhis 
policies had been sold, as at march 2020. riding on this 
wave, similar initiatives will be rolled out by harnessing 
insurance to meet emerging societal needs.

1 One QdaP has ceased to accept new business.
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all authorized insurers and reinsurers carrying on long term business, and 
licensed individual insurance agents, licensed insurance agencies and 
licensed insurance broker companies carrying on regulated activities in 
respect of long term business are required to comply with the anti-money 
laundering and Counter-terrorist Financing Ordinance (Cap. 615) (“amlO”) 
and with the guideline on aml and CtF (gl3) published under the amlO.

the insurance authority (“ia”) has worked closely with the 
industry, fellow regulators and international counterparts 
to put in place effective aml/CtF systems for hong 
kong’s insurance sector. 

MUTUal evalUaTion bY The financial 
acTion Task force 

the F inancial  act ion task  Force  (“FatF”)  is  an 
independent, inter-governmental body that develops 
and promotes policies to protect the global financial 
system against money laundering, terrorist financing, 
and financing for the proliferation of weapons of mass 
destruction. it conducts peer reviews, referred to as 
mutual evaluations, of each member jurisdiction on an 
ongoing basis to assess their implementation of the FatF 
recommendations.

in 2018, an 18-month mutual evaluation of hong kong 
commenced, extending into the reporting year. during 
the assessment period, an assessment team sent by the 
FatF and the asia/Pacific group on money laundering  
conducted a three-week on-site visit to hong kong to 
assess the effectiveness of aml/CtF systems in hong 
kong, and met with relevant stakeholders including the 
ia and industry representatives. after the assessment was 
completed, the results were published in the mutual 
evaluation report of hong kong in september 2019. 

hong kong was the first jurisdiction in asia Pacific to have 
achieved an overall compliance in the current round of 
FatF evaluation. the report commended hong kong for 
having a strong legal foundation and effective system for 
combating money laundering and terrorist financing 
(“ml/tF”), in particular in risk identification, law 
enforcement, asset recovery, counter-terrorist financing 
and international co-operation. 

http://www.fatf-gafi.org/publications/mutualevaluations/documents/mer-hong-kong-2019.html
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the report also recognised that the ia had implemented 
appropriate risk-sensitive supervision, maintained an
overall good understanding of the ml/tF risks at the 
sectoral and institutional level, and had a reasonable 
supervisory framework to monitor aml/CtF compliance. 
the ia has been demonstrating its ongoing commitment 
to combatting ml/tF together with the industry and will 
continue to join forces with fellow regulators and other 
relevant stakeholders to further enhance its aml/CtF 
regime and implement FatF recommendations as 
appropriate. 

enhancinG The aMl/cTf reGiMe

the ia has issued a number of regulatory documents to 
assist the industry to understand and comply with the 
latest aml/CtF requirements. 

When the direct regulatory regime for insurance 
intermediaries in hong kong commenced on 23
september 2019, an amended version of gl3 came into 
effect on the same day, reflecting the corresponding 
amendments of terminologies under the insurance 
Ordinance (Cap. 41). the ia also published a new set of 
frequently asked questions to be read in conjunction with 
the amended gl3, in order to assist insurance institutions 
to understand and implement relevant aml/CtF 
statutory and regulatory requirements effectively. 

sUPervisorY oUTreach

during the reporting year, we continued to reach out to 
the industry and promote insurance intermediaries’ 
awareness of their statutory obligations, recent ml/tF 
trends, and the latest aml/CtF regulatory requirements. 

the two annual aml/CtF seminars took place in October 
2019, attended by around 600 industry practitioners. We 
also provided practical guidance for small- and medium-
sized broker companies from time to time, including 
hosting briefings to discuss how to conduct periodical 
assessment of ml/tF risks at an institutional level, and 
what to include in the assessment such as core risk 
factors, relevant attributes and corresponding regulatory 
requirements.



I n s u r a n c e  A u t h o r i t y34
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1 april 2019 to 31 march 2020

CORPORATE NEWS

OCT
2019

dr Clement Chen, ms agnes Choi and ms 
theresa ng appointed non-executive 
directors. 

NOV
2019

the Process review Panel for the 
insurance authority established.

PRUDENTIAL REGULATION

AUG
2019

the third round of Quantitative 
impact studies launched to prepare 
for the introduction of the risk-based 
Capital regime.

SEP
2019

became the sole insurance regulator 
in hong kong on 23 september 2019, 
taking over direct regulation of over 
120,000 insurance intermediaries. 

OCT
2019

authorized the first non-life virtual 
insurer under Fast track.

hosted the first supervisory college as 
group-wide supervisor for Prudential 
plc group’s international business 
post-demerger to enhance regulatory 
collaboration across six jurisdictions.

NOV
2019

hosted a supervisory college for aia 
group as group-wide supervisor to 
enhance regulatory collaboration 
across 13 jurisdictions.

JAN
2020

guideline on Cybersecurity (gl20) and 
guideline on enterprise risk 
management (gl 21) became effective 
on 1 January 2020.

FEB And MAR
2020 2020

introduced temporary facilitative 
measures1 for the industry to cope with 
the challenges of the COVid-19 
pandemic.

REGULATORY COLLABORATION

MAY
2019

the CeO of the insurance authority (“ia”)
chaired the 14th annual meeting and 
Conference of the asian Forum of 
insurance regulators in macao.

NOV
2019

Joined the annual Conference of the 
international association of insurance 
supervisors (“iais”) in abu dhabi.

JAN
2020

Joined the 19th Joint meeting of the 
insurance regulators of guangdong, 
hong kong, macao and shenzhen in 
shenzhen.

JAN
2020

assumed the role of regional Coordinator 
in the iais’s implementation and 
assessment Committee, strengthening 
collaboration between iais and its asian 
and Oceanian members.

FEB
2020

the ia took over the Chairmanship of 
iais’s insurance groups Working group.

1 in view of the pandemic development, the ia decided to extend the temporary facilitative measures to 31 december 2020.
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MARKET DEVELOPMENT

APR
2019

launched the Qualifying deferred 
annuity Policy (“QdaP”), energising the 
insurance market while helping to close 
society’s protection gap and to promote 
early retirement planning.

JUN And NOV
2019 2019

hosted two forums to engage the 
Protection and indemnity community in 
attracting more marine business to 
hong kong.

JUL
2019

implemented extended preferential 
treatment to promote the development 
of the hong kong reinsurance industry2, 
with China banking and insurance 
regulatory Commission (“CbirC”).

DEC
2019

Organised the annual asian insurance 
Forum, a high-level platform for industry 
leaders and financial regulators 
worldwide to share views on the 
development of the insurance industry 
in asia.

legislative amendments introduced on 
halving the profit tax rate for non-life 
insurers and insurance broker 
companies involved in marine insurance 
and the underwriting of specialty risks3.

MAR
2020

to strengthen hong kong’s 
competitiveness in the global insurance 
market, amendment bills relating to 
insurance-linked securities, the 
expanded scope of insurable risks for 
hong kong-based captive insurers and 
a new group-wide supervision 
framework gazetted4. 

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

APR And MAY
2019 2019

ran a public education campaign on 
tips for purchasing annuities and 
retirement savings with the investor and 
Financial education Council (“iFeC”).

Organised a media briefing to explain 
the key features of QdaP to the public.

MAY And SEP
2019 2019

met with the Future task Force to 
discuss Fintech development.

JUL And AUG
2019 2019

Organised two public education 
seminars on QdaP with iFeC for around 
500 participants.  

SEP
2019

launched a publicity campaign to keep 
the public informed of the direct 
regulatory regime for insurance 
intermediaries.

2 in July 2019, the CbirC extended the preferential treatment for another year to 30 June 2020.
3 the amendment bills were passed in July 2020.
4 the amendment bills were passed in July 2020.
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Hong Kong Insurance Market in 2019

HK$566.8 billion
total gross premiums

1st in Asia
for insurance density(a)

14 of the world’s top 20 
insurers operating from 
and in Hong Kong(c)

10.2%
annual growth rate

2nd in the world
for insurance penetration(b)

IA Activities 2019–20

Prudential regulation

163
authorized insurers

126,006
licensed insurance
intermediaries

13
sets of rules, codes and
guidelines issued in relation
to the direct regulatory
regime for insurance
intermediaries(d)

Market development

24
QDAPs(e) certified

133,000
QDAPs issued by insurers

HK$9.4 billion
QDAP annualised
premiums

110
Insurtech-related enquiries
and meetings

41
BRIEF(f) members

Consumer protection

1,292
complaints received

222
unresolved complaints
from former Self-Regulatory
Organisations(g)

(a)(b) swiss re institute sigma no 3/2019
(c) Fortune global 500, July 2019
(d) including six guidelines on the sale of long term insurance products
(e) Qualifying deferred annuity Policy
(f) belt and road insurance exchange Facilitation
(g) the former self-regulatory Organisations are the hong kong Confederation of insurance brokers, the Professional insurance brokers 

association and the insurance agents registration board formed under the hong kong Federation of insurers.

https://www.swissre.com/dam/jcr:b8010432-3697-4a97-ad8b-6cb6c0aece33/sigma3_2019_en.pdf
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the insurance authority (“ia”) is an insurance regulator independent of the 
government and the insurance industry. established in december 2015, 
the ia was set up to modernise the regulatory regime for the insurance 
industry in hong kong. Our regulatory regime aims to facilitate the 
sustainable development of the industry, promote hong kong’s 
competitiveness in the global insurance market, and provide better 
protection for policy holders.

sTaTUTorY fUncTions
in accordance with the insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41), 
the principal function of the ia is to regulate and 
supervise the insurance industry for the promotion of the 
general stability of the insurance industry and for the 
protection of existing and potential policy holders. the 
insurance Ordinance stipulates that the ia shall:

(a) be responsible for supervising an authorized
insurer’s and a licensed insurance intermediary’s
compliance with the provisions of the insurance
Ordinance;

(b) consider and propose reforms of the law relating to
insurance business;

(c) promote and encourage the adoption of proper
standards of conduct and sound and prudent
business practices by authorized insurers;

(d) promote and encourage the adoption of proper
standards of conduct by licensed insurance
intermediaries;

(e) review and, if necessary, propose reforms of the
systems for regulating authorized insurers and
licensed insurance intermediaries;

(f) regulate the conduct of insurance intermediaries
through a licensing regime;

(g) promote the understanding by policy holders and
potential policy holders of insurance products and
the insurance industry;

(h) formulate effective regulatory strategies and
facilitate the sustainable market development of
t h e  i n s u r a n c e  i n d u s t r y ,  a n d  p r o m o t e  t h e
competitiveness of the insurance industry in the
global insurance market;

(i) conduct studies into matters affecting the insurance 
industry;

(j) assist the Financial secretary in maintaining the
f inancial  stabi l i ty  of  hong kong by  taking
appropriate measures in relation to the insurance
industry;

(k) co-operate with and assist financial services
supervisory authorities of hong kong or of any
place outside hong kong, whenever appropriate, to
the extent permitted by the insurance Ordinance;
and

(l) perform functions imposed or conferred on the ia
by the insurance Ordinance or any other Ordinance.

The orGanisaTion
the ia is governed by a board consisting of a Chairman, 
non-executive directors and executive directors, all 
appointed by the Chief executive of the hong kong 
special administrative region. the Chief executive Officer 
(“CeO”), who is an executive director, leads the executive 
arm of the ia and is responsible for managing the ia’s 
day-to-day operations. the ia has five divisions to carry 
out its duties and functions: the long term business 
division, the general business division, the market 
Conduct division, the Policy and development division, 
and the Corporate services division. each division is 
headed by a directorial executive. apart from the five 
divisions, the CeO’s Office includes the external relations 
section, the legal section and the ia secretariat. the ia’s 
organisational structure can be found in the appendices 
on page 94.
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corPoraTe Governance

sound corporate governance has laid down a solid foundation for the 
insurance authority (“ia”) to perform effectively its statutory functions. Our 
corporate governance framework is built around well-defined 
management and accountability structures, comprehensive operational 
and financial control procedures as well as high standards of conduct.

Governance sTrUcTUre

Membership
under the insurance Ordinance (“iO”), membership of the 
ia consists of the Chairman who is a non-executive 
director (“ned”), the Chief executive Officer (“CeO”) who 
is an executive director (“ed”), and not less than six other 
neds or eds. all of them are appointed by the Chief 
executive of the hong kong special administrative 
region (“the Chief executive”).

as at 31 march 2020, the ia board consisted of 12 neds 
and five eds. during the reporting year, dr Clement Chen 
Cheng-jen, ms agnes Choi heung-kwan and ms theresa 
ng Choi-yuk were appointed neds. their term will last 
from 28 October 2019 until 27 december 2021, in tandem 
with the incumbent neds. an orientation programme 
was arranged to familiarise them with the work and 
functions of the ia.

responsibilities and diversity of directors
neds inject an independent perspective into the ia, 
bringing a wealth of experience and expertise in diverse 
fields such as insurance, law, accountancy, finance, 
actuarial science and enterprise management.

diversity of our neds

Gender
Male 8  (67%)
Female 4  (33%)

Professional Expertise / Experience
Accountancy /

e 2  (17%)Actuarial Scienc

Banking / Finance /
Insurance

5 (42%)

Education and 1  (8%)
Management 
Legal 3 (25%)
Public Relations 1  (8%)

chairman and ceo

the Chairman provides leadership and vision, while the 
CeO assumes responsibility for day-to-day operations 
and implementation of strategies under the directions of 
the ia board.

executive directors

eds take charge of day-to-day operations within their 
respective purviews, including long term business, 
general business, market conduct as well as policy and 
development, and support the CeO in fulfilling his duties.
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Governance structure

Internal Audit
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External Audit

Internal
Audit

External
Audit

Supervision,
Guidance

Reporting,
Accountability

Feedback

Reporting

Reporting

Appointment

Reporting

Advice

HKSAR
Government 

Appointment Reporting 

IA
Board

Appointment,
Delegation
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Functional
Committees

Audit Committee

Corporate Services
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External Relations
Committee

Regulatory Instruments
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Management
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External
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Future
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1 Dr the Hon Moses Cheng Mo-chi, GBM, GBS, JP
Chairman

2 Mr Clement Cheung Wan-ching, GBS, JP
Chief Executive Officer

3 Mr Samuel Chan Ka-yan, JP
Non-Executive Director

4 Professor Chan Wai-sum
Non-Executive Director

5 Dr Clement Chen Cheng-jen, GBS, JP
Non-Executive Director

6 Ms Chitty Cheung Fung-ting
Non-Executive Director

7 Ms Agnes Choi Heung-kwan, MH
Non-Executive Director

8 Mr Kenneth Kwok Tsun-wa
Non-Executive Director

9 Mr Ma Ho-fai, GBS, JP
Non-Executive Director

10 Ms Theresa Ng Choi-yuk, JP
Non-Executive Director

11 Mr James Wong Chien-kuo
Non-Executive Director

12 Professor Anna Wong Wai-kwan
Non-Executive Director

13 Mr Stephen Yiu Kin-wah
Non-Executive Director

14 Ms Carol Hui Mei-ying
Executive Director,
Long Term Business

15 Mr Simon Lam Sui-kong
Executive Director,
General Business

16 Mr Stephen Po Wai-kwong
Executive Director,
Market Conduct

17 Mr Raymond Tam Wai-man
Executive Director,
Policy and Development

2

15

16

1211 5
1413 6

8 10 9 4

7

17

1

3
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IA MEMBERS

Chairman

Dr the Hon Moses Cheng Mo-chi, GBM, GBS, JP

Dr Cheng is Consultant of a law firm in Hong Kong, after being its Senior 
Partner for over 20 years. His areas of practice straddle capital markets, 
corporate governance, regulatory and compliance. He has been actively 
contributing to the community, and is currently a member of the 
Financial Leaders Forum and a Fellow of the Hong Kong Academy of 
Finance. Notable past appointments include Chairman of the Education 
Commission, government-appointed Director on the Board of Hong 
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, founding Vice-Chairman of the 
Estate Agents Authority, and appointed member of the Legislative 
Council.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr Samuel Chan Ka-yan, JP

Mr Chan is a practising barrister in commercial litigation. He is currently 
Chairman of the Competition Commission, Deputy Chairman of the 
Appeal Board Panel (Town Planning) and formerly Vice-Chairman of the 
Consumer Council.

Professor Chan Wai-sum

Professor Chan is an actuary and Professor of Finance at the Chinese 
University of Hong Kong whose expertise covers life insurance, 
retirement income arrangements and health care financing.
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Dr Clement Chen Cheng-jen, GBS, JP

Dr Chen is the Executive Director of Tai Hing Cotton Mill Limited. He is 
currently Chairman of the Council and Court of Hong Kong Baptist 
University, Honorary President of the Federation of Hong Kong 
Industries, a member of the Standing Committee on Directorate Salaries 
and Conditions of Service and a member of the Public Service 
Commission. Notable past appointments include Chairman of the 
Vocational Training Council, Chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong 
Industries and Chairman of the Hong Kong Productivity Council.

Ms Chitty Cheung Fung-ting

Ms Cheung has occupied a number of senior executive positions for an 
international airline. She is a former member of the Hong Kong Tourism 
Board and the Planning and Development Committee of the Travel 
Industry Council.

Ms Agnes Choi Heung-kwan, MH

Ms Choi is a senior general insurance leader with over 35 years’ 
experience in underwriting, reinsurance, claims management, business 
development and strategic planning. She was Chairman of the Hong 
Kong Federation of Insurers (“HKFI”) from 2012 to 2013 and a member 
of the Executive Committee of the International Union of Marine 
Insurance (“IUMI”) from 2015 to 2018. Currently, she is the IUMI’s Asia 
Ambassador, a member of the Hong Kong Maritime and Port Board and 
Chairman of its Promotion and External Relations Committee. She was 
elected as one of the Top Ten Influential Persons in Marine Insurance 
2017 by Lloyd’s List and one of the Top Ten Outstanding Women in the 
Maritime Industry in China in 2019.
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Mr Kenneth Kwok Tsun-wa

Mr Kwok is a seasoned insurance practitioner who took the helm at 
international brokerage firms and general insurance companies. He 
served as a member of the General Committee of the Insurance 
Complaints Bureau1 from 2001 to 2008 and as Chairman of the Motor 
Insurers’ Bureau of Hong Kong from 1987 to 1988.

Mr Ma Ho-fai, GBS, JP

Mr Ma is Senior Partner of a law firm, specialising in conveyancing work. 
He is Chairman of the Protection of Wages on Insolvency Fund Board, 
Chairperson of the Travel Industry Authority, and an Independent 
Director of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong.

Ms Theresa Ng Choi-yuk, JP

Ms Ng is a veteran banker who held key frontline and management 
positions in retail, wealth management as well as private banking. She 
is a lay member of the Council of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and a member of the Antiquities Advisory Board.

1 Formerly known as the Insurance Claims Complaints Bureau.
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Mr James Wong Chien-kuo

Mr Wong is the former Chief Executive Officer of a few major long term 
insurers. He served as Chairman of HKFI from 2009 to 2010 and as a 
member of the General Committee of the Insurance Complaints Bureau2 
from 2001 to 2006. He was also a member of the Hong Kong Banking 
Advisory Committee and the Committee on Strategic Enhancement of 
Hong Kong as an International Financial Centre.

Professor Anna Wong Wai-kwan

Professor Wong is a Professor of Practice in Finance at the University of 
Hong Kong, delivering courses on financial regulation, compliance and 
risk management. She is currently a member of the Competition 
Commission. She has held senior roles in several global financial 
institutions and is a former member of the Advisory Committee of the 
Securities and Futures Commission.

Mr Stephen Yiu Kin-wah

Mr Yiu is a former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer for Mainland 
China and Hong Kong of an international accounting firm, possessing 
in-depth knowledge on auditing large banking and financial 
corporations. He is a government-appointed Director on the Board of 
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and a member of the 
Exchange Fund Advisory Committee.

2 Formerly known as the Insurance Claims Complaints Bureau.
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Executive Directors

Mr Clement Cheung Wan-ching, GBS, JP
Chief Executive Officer
Mr Cheung has been the Chief Executive Officer of the IA since August 
2018 upon retirement from the Administrative Service which he joined 
in 1983. Senior posts that he took up during this career include Director 
of the Hong Kong Economic and Trade Office in Singapore from 1998 to 
2001 when the Asian Financial Crisis erupted, Commissioner of 
Insurance from 2006 to 2009 during the global financial crisis, 
Postmaster General from 2009 to 2011, Commissioner of Customs and 
Excise from 2011 to 2015 and Secretary for the Civil Service from 2015 to 
2017. He is currently a member of the Executive Committee of the 
International Association of Insurance Supervisors and Chairman of the 
Asian Forum of Insurance Regulators.

Ms Carol Hui Mei-ying
Executive Director, Long Term Business
Ms Hui joined the IA in June 2017. Prior to this, she worked in the then 
Office of the Commissioner of Insurance since 1990, covering areas 
including regulation of insurers and insurance intermediaries, policy 
development and strategy formulation. At the IA, she oversees the 
prudential supervision of long term insurers, together with the group-
wide supervision framework, Qualifying Deferred Annuity Policies, 
temporary facilitative measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
and processing of trial projects on remote on-boarding.



I n s u r a n c e  A u t h o r i t y

Governance
C O R P O R A T E  G O V E R N A N C E

46

Mr Simon Lam Sui-kong
Executive Director, General Business

Mr Lam joined the IA in June 2017, armed with an extensive 
management, technical and commercial experience and expertise in 
general, long term and reinsurance businesses accumulated over 30 
years in the insurance industry. Having been the Chief Executive Officer 
and Regional Chief Operating Officer of multinational insurers and a 
reinsurer located in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Vietnam and Thailand, 
he brings strong leadership and stewardship on key market topics and 
for the growth and development of the general insurance market in 
Hong Kong.

Mr Stephen Po Wai-kwong3

Executive Director, Market Conduct

Mr Po’s duties span licensing, inspection, investigation and handling of 
complaints, striving to uphold a high standard of conduct, ethics and 
integrity among insurance intermediaries. Past roles include Senior 
Director of the Intermediaries Supervision Department in the Securities 
and Futures Commission, and Chairman of the Committee on the 
Regulation of Market Intermediaries of the International Organisation of 
Securities Commissions from 2009 to 2016, setting conduct and 
prudential standards in a cross-border environment.

3 Mr Po retired in May 2020.
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Mr Raymond Tam Wai-man4

Executive Director, Policy and Development
Mr Tam is responsible for the Risk-based Capital Regime, Policy Holders’ 
Protection Scheme, insurance-linked securities, Insurtech development 
and the Belt and Road Insurance Exchange Facilitation platform. He 
designed the existing solvency regime for long term business when 
working in the then Office of the Commissioner of Insurance. He later 
helped set up the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority as an 
Executive Director. Prior to joining the IA, Mr Tam was Chief Risk Officer 
for Asia of a multinational insurance group. He was the recipient of 
China’s first Actuary of the Year Award.

4 Mr Tam retired in May 2020.
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Governance PracTices

the ia strives to observe the best practices of corporate 
governance that include:

meeting regularly to transact matters of operational 
and strategic importance
Providing the ia board with relevant materials in 
advance to enable thorough and informed 
deliberation at meetings
Furnishing the ia board with relevant and timely 
management data to facilitate detailed scrutiny of 
outcomes and performance

keeping records for the ia board in the form of 
minutes of discussion, attendance and decisions 
made
setting up policies for disclosure and handling 
conflict of interest
meeting in sub-committees to gather preliminary
feedback

attendance at meetings of the ia board and its functional 
committees in 2019 –20:

corporate external codes and regulatory 
services relations audit Guidelines instruments 

committee committee committee committee committee 
Meetings attended/held ia board (“csc”) (“erc”) (“ac”) (“cGc”) (“ric”)(a)

chairman
moses Cheng 11/11 2/2 0/0 1/1 2/2 3/3

non-executive directors
samuel Chan 10/11 2/2 0/0 – 2/2 3/3
Chan Wai-sum 10/11 2/2 – 1/1 – –
Clement Chen(b) 6/6 – 0/0 *(c) – –
Chitty Cheung 10/11 1/2 0/0 – – –
agnes Choi(d) 6/6 1/1 0/0 – – *(e)

kenneth kwok 10/11 2/2 – 0/1 2/2 3/3
ma ho-fai 8/11 1/2 0/0 – 0/2 2/3
theresa ng(f) 6/6 1/1 – – – *(g)

James Wong 9/11 2/2 0/0 – 2/2 1/3
anna Wong 11/11 – 0/0 – 2/2 3/3
stephen yiu 10/11 1/2 – 1/1 – –

executive directors
Clement Cheung 11/11 – 0/0 – 2/2 3/3
Carol hui 10/11 – – – – –
simon lam 10/11 – – – – –
stephen Po 10/11 – – – 1/2 3/3
raymond tam 11/11 – 0/0 – 2/2 3/3

(a) Previously known as the Codes and guidelines Committee and renamed in June 2019.
(b) appointed a member of the ia board, erC and aC on 28 October 2019.
(c) no aC meeting held after dr Chen’s appointment on 28 October 2019.
(d) appointed a member of the ia board, CsC, erC and riC on 28 October 2019.
(e) no riC meeting held after ms Choi’s appointment on 28 October 2019.
(f) appointed a member of the ia board, CsC and riC on 28 October 2019.
(g) no riC meeting held after ms ng’s appointment on 28 October 2019.



A n n u a l  R e p o r t  2 0 1 9 - 2 0

governance
c O R P O R A t e  g O v e R n A n c e

49

fUncTional coMMiTTees

the ia has four functional committees: CsC, erC, aC and 
riC5, each chaired by an ned with relevant expertise. 

neds make up over 70% of the membership, with CsC
and aC comprised entirely of neds. this provides checks 
and balances on the ia’s decision-making process.

committees composition summary of work in 2019–20

Corporate services 10 neds held two meetings.
Committee examined the Corporate Plan for 2020–21 and six-year Financial 

Forecast for 2020–21 to 2025–26, providing valuable comments to 
the ia board.
received periodic reports on financial status, keeping a close 
watch on sustainability of the ia.
Other matters included:

procurement of a service provider for the document 
management system
salary reviews to ensure that the remuneration package is 
competitive enough to retain and attract the right talents

external relations 8 neds and  transacted business by circulation in the reporting year.
Committee 2 eds Considered and shaped up the proposed framework for annual 

report 2018–19.

audit Committee 5 neds held one meeting with external auditors to review the audited 
financial statements.
endorsed the audit plan proposed by external auditors.
received periodic tender reports, ensuring compliance with 
internal policies and guidelines.

regulatory instruments 8 neds and  held five meetings.
Committee(a) 3 eds scrutinised 12 guidelines and two codes of conduct, providing 

insights to the ia board on:
minimum standards on cybersecurity for authorized insurers
enterprise risk management for authorized insurers
pecuniary penalty on regulated persons
requirements on the sale of long term insurance policies, 
including financial needs analysis, benefit illustration and 
policy replacement
requirements on the sale of medical insurance
requirements on the conduct of licensed insurance 
intermediaries

(a) Previously known as the Codes and guidelines Committee and renamed in June 2019.

5 Previously known as the Codes and guidelines Committee and renamed in June 2019.
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indUsTrY advisorY coMMiTTees

the ia is required by the iO to set up two industry 
advisory Committees (“iaCs”) on long term business and 
general business respectively. each iaC has to include the 
Chairman, the CeO and not more than two other eds of 
the ia, as well as eight to 12 other members who are 
a p p o i n t e d  b y  t h e  F i n an c i a l  s e c r e t a r y  ( “ F s ” )  i n
consultation with the ia.

the Fs has appointed/reappointed 12 members to each 
iaC for a term of two years between 1 June 2018 and 31 
may 2020. these members were selected from different 
sectors within the insurance industry and related fields 
such as consumer protection, accountancy, law and 
compliance, academia and banking. during the reporting 
year,  four joint  meetings of  the iaCs were held. 
membership of the iaC can be found in the appendices 
on page 96.

indePendenT checks and balances

The ombudsman 
the ia is subject to indirect oversight by the Office of the 
Ombudsman which has statutory powers to investigate 
alleged acts of maladministration.

insurance appeals Tribunal
the insurance appeals tribunal (“iat”) is established 
under the iO to review, on application, specified decisions 
made by the ia, and to hear and determine a question or 
an issue arising out of or in connection with a review. its 
statutory purpose is to ensure that regulatory decisions 
made by the ia are reasonable and fair.

the iat is formed whenever there is a case to be 
reviewed. it consists of the chairperson of the iat and two 
ordinary members recommended by the chairperson, 
chosen from a panel of members appointed by the 
Financial secretary under the delegated authority by the 
Chief executive. the chairperson is appointed by the 
Chief executive and must be a former Justice of appeal of 
the Court of appeal, a former judge or a former deputy 
judge of the Court of First instance, or a person eligible 
for appointment as a high Court judge. Panel members 
are drawn from the insurance industry and related fields 
such as consumer protection, accountancy, law, 
academia, banking and management. membership of the 
iat can be found in the appendices on page 97.

Process review Panel for the ia
the Process review Panel (“PrP”) is an independent non-
statutory body established by the government to review 
and advise on the adequacy of internal procedures and 
guidelines formulated by the ia concerning regulation 
of insurers and insurance intermediaries as well as 
co-ordination with the hong kong monetary authority on 
supervision of regulated activities carried out by banking 
institutions. the PrP seeks to ascertain that the ia is 
conducting business and exercising powers in a fair and 
consistent manner by submitting an annual report to the 
Fs outlining the PrP’s major activities, observations and 
recommendations. membership of the PrP can be found 
in the appendices on page 98.

https://www.iat.gov.hk/en/index.html
https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/201910/25/P2019102500204.htm
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accoUnTabiliTY and TransParencY

standards of conduct
We attach great importance to the integrity and probity 
of our staff and expect them to uphold a high standard of 
conduct to fulfil the statutory functions conferred on the 
ia. to ensure that our staff understand and observe the 
relevant standards, we issue guidelines and a code of 
conduct addressing areas such as conflict of interest, 
declaration of financial interests, and acceptance of gifts. 
all newcomers are compelled to attend induction 
modules and training organised by the independent 
Commission against Corruption.

corporate Planning
in each financial year, the ia is required by the iO to
submit a corporate plan to the Fs outlining key 
objectives, planned activities and budget for the 
following year. before submission of the corporate plan,
views on the budget are sought from the legislative 
Council (“legCo”) Panel on Financial affairs.

financial control and reporting
Financial  statements in keeping with prevail ing 
accounting standards, reporting rules and interpretations 
promulgated by the hong kong institute of Certified 
Public accountants are prepared and published together 
with the annual report. PricewaterhouseCoopers was 
engaged again to be the external auditor of our financial 
statements for the reporting year. We have adopted the 
following to enhance the transparency of our financial 
status:

an external firm is appointed to conduct the annual 
audit.

annual financial statements are presented to the 
aC.

approval is sought from the ia board on the annual 
financial statements published in the annual report.

key financial data is presented at meetings of the ia 
board.

regular reports are provided to the government.

the annual budget and revised estimates are 
presented to the legCo Panel on Financial affairs.

communication with stakeholders
the ia interacts with a variety of stakeholders, including 
industry practitioners, policy holders, regulatory 
counterparts, government officials, legCo members, 
media representatives and the general public. in addition 
to maintaining communication channels through the ia 
website, media briefings, press releases, circulars and 
publicity events, feedback is collected through meetings, 
seminars and consultation sessions. industry statistics 
are released on a regular basis, and 15 requests for 
access to information were handled during the reporting 
year.

handling complaints
Our accountability and transparency are also embodied 
in complaints handling. Our role and policies in this 
respect are published on our website. since taking over 
from the three former self-regulatory Organisations 
(“srOs”)6 on 23 september 2019, the ia has assumed sole 
responsibility for dealing with complaints against 
insurance intermediaries.

6 the former srOs are the hong kong Confederation of insurance brokers, the Professional insurance brokers association and the insurance 
agents registration board formed under the hong kong Federation of insurers.
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risk ManaGeMenT

a package of measures has been adopted to safeguard 

external risks associated with the insurance market 
are assessed as part of the corporate planning 
process and appropriate measures are adopted to 
address the risks on an ongoing basis.

the internal audit section, recently established,  
reports to the ia board to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of the ia’s risk management, control 
and governance process.

Financial control policies and procedures are 
promulgated to delineate the authority and 
responsibility of our staff and the ia board in the
appointment of consultants, service providers, 
purchase of capital items, etc.

against possible risks associated with our operations,
including external risks arising from the insurance market 
and internal risks such as financial risks, and threats to 
our information and office security:

 the ia’s risk management system and internal 
control procedures are subject to review by the aC 
which is composed exclusively of neds.

access controls are in place for the ia’s computer 
and file systems to protect against unauthorised 
access, use or modification. there are also access 
controls for office premises to safeguard against 
unauthorised entry.

a data privacy policy is promulgated and Personal 
data Privacy Officer appointed to facil itate 
compliance with the Personal data (Privacy)
Ordinance.

organisation-wide corporate Planning
to fully engage colleagues in determining strategic directions and 
priorities for the ia, we have developed a new and interactive 
corporate planning process. the Chairman, CeO and eds hosted 
town hall meetings to consult all staff on the ia’s road map and 
major initiatives, followed by focus group sessions on topics such 
as corporate planning, talent development, culture shaping and it 
strategy. Our objective is to promote bottom-up communication, 
cultivating a strong sense of ownership and active participation.

Dr Moses Cheng, Chairman, discusses corporate 
planning with colleagues at a town hall meeting 
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building an efficient organisation driven by an effective workforce and a 
reliable information technology system is crucial for the insurance 
authority (“ia”) to carry out its regulatory work. during the reporting year, 
we provided a host of development opportunities for our staff and raised 
our regulatory efficiency by leveraging technology.

recrUiTMenT

as of march 2020, the ia had around 280 staff, including 
many multi-disciplinary professionals from the regulatory 
and insurance sectors. Our plan is to build a full team of 
330 staff members in 2020, enabling us to launch new 
functions such as group-wide supervision and the direct 

regulation of insurance intermediaries. We will continue 
to recruit  h igh-cal ibre  indiv iduals  with diverse 
backgrounds and experience, drawn from the insurance 
industry, professional firms, and the regulatory and 
public sectors.

ia staff
(as at 31 march 2020)

278
staff members

49%
of staff in senior
management roles
are female

44%
hold professional
qualifications

62% and38%
female male

39
average age

89%
hold a Bachelor’s
or higher degree
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CORE
VALUES

We Are
One

Passionate

Professional

Caring

Relentless
Learning

corPoraTe cUlTUre

We place great emphasis on fostering a culture that will 
enable the ia to achieve its  aspiration to be an 
empathetic and dynamic regulator. during the reporting 
year, we continued to organise “ia Way in action” 
workshops to communicate the ia’s core values to new 
joiners.

to gain staff feedback and suggestions on our journey for  
“living” the ia’s core values at work, we conducted a 
Culture Pulse survey in august 2019. Our staff provided 
constructive comments on improving our management 
pract ices,  teamwork,  communicat ion and staf f 
d e v e l o p m e n t .  s o m e  o f  t h e  s u g g e s t i o n s  w e r e 
incorporated into our Corporate Plan 2020–21.

PerforMance-based sYsTeM

to attract and retain quality staff, we have implemented 
mechanisms for making performance-linked pay 
adjustments and awarding variable pay. We also conduct 
periodic reviews of the pay structure and fringe benefits 
to ensure the remuneration package stays competitive.

“IA Way in Action” workshop
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TalenT develoPMenT and sUccession 
PlanninG

during the reporting year, we arranged a vast array of 
training programmes to enrich our staff’s professional 
knowledge and keep them abreast of the latest market
developments. seminars on risk management, insurtech, 
international regulatory developments and other topical 
issues were among the programmes organised. We held 
in-house briefings on the ia’s initiatives such as the new 
direct regulatory regime for insurance intermediaries and 
new guidelines. We also sponsored staff to attend
external professional courses and pursue relevant 
professional qualifications.

to broaden horizons, we provided opportunities for staff 
to attend major industry events and conferences on the 
belt and road initiative, green finance and Fintech. Other 
training programmes included english and Putonghua 
workshops and induction programmes for newcomers.

the ia is an approved employer of both the hong kong 
institute of Certified Public accountants (“hkiCPa”) and 
the association of Chartered Certified accountants 
(“aCCa”). this means our senior CPa colleagues can
provide guidance and coaching for hkiCPa student 
members, and our in-house professional development
programmes are recognised as aCCa Continuing 
Professional development units.

Types of Training in 2019–20

56%

40%

4%

9,437

Induction Soft skills e.g. languages
and culture building

Professional training

total training hours

Average annual training
hours per employee:

34 hours
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IA staff’s outstanding performance is recognised with prestigious 
awards. For example, Ms Joanne Wong, Senior Manager, Market 
Conduct, receives an award at the 2019 Ombudsman’s Awards for 
Officers of Public Organisations for her exemplary performance in 
complaint handling. This is the second year in a row that IA staff have 
been commended for their dedication to public service.

the ia recognises the importance of building a leadership 
pipeline to ensure a seamless succession. during the 
r e p o r t i n g  y e a r ,  w e  o r g a n i s e d  v a r i o u s  t r a i n i n g 
programmes including effective performance review 
discussions, mentoring skills, team building, and project 
management for managerial staff to develop their 
leadership and managerial skills to assume higher 
responsibilities in the future.

W e  c o n t i n u e d  t o  r u n  o u r  m a n a g e m e n t  t r a i n e e 
Programme and summer internship Programme. thus, 
we are starting to develop a pool of young talent for the 
organisation further down the track.

in recognition of our remarkable commitment to 
manpower training and development, the ia has been 
accredited as a manpower developer under the 
employees retraining board manpower developer award 
scheme.

inforMaTion TechnoloGY

during the reporting year, we launched a mission critical 
system to enable electronic workflows relating to the 
direct regulation of insurance intermediaries, which 
commenced in september 2019. in addition, we 
upgraded our system hardware to raise operational 
efficiency for handling authorization and supervision of 
insurers.

to strengthen our capacity to cope with business 
continuity scenarios such as working remotely amidst the 
COVid-19 outbreak, we revisited our information 
technology infrastructure and stepped up our video 
conferencing capabilities.

t h e  i a  w e b s i t e  w a s  a l s o  e n h a n c e d  t o  s u p p o r t 
collaboration and information exchange between 
stakeholders and the ia through online portals, including 
the insurer’s Collaboration Corner and belt and road 
insurance exchange Facilitation.

reliable information technology systems are of 
paramount importance for the ia’s smooth operation. 
during the reporting year, an uptime of 99% was 
maintained for core information technology services, 
covering our network, intranet portal, email system, 
share drives and core business systems.
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nurturing Young Talent
the ia runs a three-year management trainee scheme that grooms outstanding university graduates to take up ia 
regulatory duties, and a summer internship Programme that gives undergraduates exposure to the insurance industry.

Management Trainee scheme
during the reporting year, we recruited nine management trainees from local and overseas universities, who were 
posted to different divisions to support a diverse range of regulatory duties. While on the scheme, each trainee is placed 
under the mentorship of a senior manager and undergoes a structured training programme that includes an induction 
session, on-the-job training, job rotation, professional and competency-based training and soft skills training. trainees 
who complete the scheme with good performance will be appointed to assistant manager positions.

summer internship Programme
between June and august 2019, we offered summer internships to 16 undergraduates, providing them with the
opportunity to gain firsthand insights into an insurance regulator’s work. the interns’ hands-on experience gave them a 
better understanding of the role of the ia, encouraging members of the younger generation to consider becoming part 
of the insurance industry.

Management trainees
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sTakeholder enGaGeMenT

enlisting stakeholders’ support is instrumental in helping the insurance 
authority (“ia”) to drive policy formulation and legislative reforms. during 
the reporting year, we continued to reach out to the industry as well as the 
community at large to communicate our strategic priorities and regulatory 
initiatives, forging stronger ties with stakeholders.

The insUrance indUsTrY

the two industry advisory Committees (“iaCs”) are 
statutory committees set up to advise the ia on matters 
pertinent to long term business and general business
respectively. the iaCs enable the ia to gauge market 

views on the development of the two sectors. during the 
reporting year, the iaCs held four joint meetings at which 
a wide range of industry issues were considered.

The IA seeks to actively reach out to stakeholders
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Dr Moses Cheng, Chairman (left), and Mr Clement Cheung, Chief Executive Officer, share details of the IA’s work with stakeholders at two major industry 
events

We maintain a close dialogue with major industry 
organisations such as the hong kong Federation of 
insurers, the hong kong Confederation of insurance 
brokers and the Professional insurance brokers 
association on major initiatives including the new direct 
regulatory regime for insurance intermediaries and 
industry relief measures amidst the COVid-19 pandemic.

the ia has also undertaken various stakeholder 
engagement activities on specific industry issues.

to deepen stakeholders’ understanding of the new 
regulatory regime for insurance intermediaries, the ia 
delivered a total of 21 briefing sessions to over 1,500 
industry practitioners between april and december 2019. 
topics included a demonstration of the ia’s new e-portal 
as well as an introduction to the new regulatory 
standards and requirements such as the new Codes of 
Conduct for licensed insurance agents and brokers, and 
the new guidelines on Fit and Proper Criteria and 
Continuing Professional development for licensed 
insurance intermediaries. to elaborate on the ia’s new 
investigation and disciplinary powers and proceedings, 
we conducted several briefings in september 2019 to 
address industry concerns. to ensure fair treatment of 
customers under the new regime, the ia refined a number 
of codes and guidelines governing the sale of long term 
insurance policies, and arranged a series of town hall 

briefings in september 2019 to strengthen the industry’s 
understanding of the relevant requirements. to foster 
cross-sectoral co-operation, the ia gave a briefing to the 
securities and Futures Commission (“sFC”) in January 
2020 on the new regime.

regarding anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist 
financing regulations, we held two annual seminars for 
around 600 industry practitioners to discuss the latest 
developments.

to cement hong kong’s position as a risk management 
centre under the belt and road initiative (“bri”), the ia 
has launched the belt and road insurance exchange 
Facilitation (“brieF”) platform to facilitate information 
s h a r i n g  a n d  c l o s e r  c o l l a b o r a t i o n  a m o n g  k e y 
stakeholders. as of march 2020, the number of brieF 
members had grown to 41, including insurers, reinsurers, 
captive insurers, insurance brokers and law firms. in July 
2019, the ia participated in the second high-level belt and 
road roundtable co-organised by the hong kong 
monetary authority’s infrastructure Financing Facilitation 
Office and the state-owned assets supervision and 
administration Commission of the state Council. at the 
roundtable, we shared our views with state-owned 
enterprises (“sOes”) on how setting up captives in hong 
kong could help them leverage the city’s competitive 
advantage as a comprehensive financing and risk 
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management centre for their overseas investment and 
international expansion. in september 2019, the ia 
hosted a thematic breakout forum at the belt and road 
summit co-organised by the government and the hong 
kong trade development Council. at the forum, we 
discussed how insurance and project finance are 
interlinked to underpin the commercial viability of 
enterprises with bri projects, especially sOes. to further 
advance hong kong’s participation and contribution to 
bri, the ia joined the second belt and road Joint 
Conference in beijing in July 2019, which was convened 
b y  t h e  h k s a r  g o v e r n m e n t  w i t h  t h e  n a t i o n a l 
development and reform Commission, the hong kong 
and macao affairs Office of the state Council and other 
relevant mainland ministries. 

insurtech is a key driving force for the industry. the ia has 
set up the insurtech Facilitation team to liaise closely 
with both the technology and insurance communities. 
the team sets out to ensure effective communication 
with businesses involved in insurtech development and 
enrich their understanding of the current regulatory 
regime.

in 2017, the hong kong institute of Certified Public 
accountants (“hkiCPa”) issued the hong kong Financial 
reporting standard 17 insurance Contracts (“hkFrs 17”). 
hkFrs 17 was adopted from an international financial
reporting standard that aims to make insurance 
a c c o u n t i n g  p r a c t i c e s  m o r e  c o n s i s t e n t  a c r o s s 
jurisdictions. due to the fundamental changes in 
accounting requirements that it introduces, hkFrs 17
will have a significant impact on the preparation of 
financial statements by insurers. We have closely 
monitored implementation progress of hkFrs 17 and
maintained ongoing dialogue with stakeholders. Further 
to a survey conducted in 2018-19 on the readiness of 
hong kong insurers for implementing hkFrs 17 and the
challenges facing the industry as a whole, we conducted 
a second readiness survey during the reporting year to
better understand hkFrs 17 implementation activities.
We also participated as an observer in the hong kong 
insurance implementation support group, a forum
established by the hkiCPa for insurers to discuss matters 
relating to the implementation of hkFrs 17.

Ms Carol Hui, Executive Director, Long Term Business, speaks at an 
industry event

Mr Clement Cheung, Chief Executive Officer, speaks at the Hong Kong 
Fintech Week
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to engage with a global audience, the ia senior
management spoke at several major international and 
regional conferences such as the Pacific insurance 
Conference, internet economy summit 2019, insurance
analytics & ai innovation asia Pacific 2019 and hong kong 
Fintech Week.

We recognise the importance of  sharing t imely 
information with the industry, and to this end have added 
a few service portals to our website: the levy insurance 
system & analytics portal for the collection of premium
levies by insurers; the insurer’s Collaboration Corner for 
information about the risk-based Capital regime; and 
the brieF portal to enhance communication among 
relevant stakeholders.

fUTUre Task force

the Future task Force of the insurance industry (“FtF”) 
has been set up to leverage the expertise and experience 
of a wide spectrum of stakeholders, from insurance 
professionals to academics. the role of the FtF is to
formulate strategies to reinforce hong kong’s position as 
a global risk management centre and a regional 
reinsurance and insurance hub. three working groups 
have been formed to look into important areas that are 
shaping the future of the insurance sector: financial 
technology, financial regulation and policy, and image
building.

in may 2019, speakers from the insurtech community and 
an insurance agency met with FtF members to discuss 
insurtech for insurance intermediaries. in september 
2019, the deputy Privacy Commissioner for Personal data 
and cybersecurity experts exchanged views with FtF
members on data privacy in the digital world and good 
practices for data protection.

Future Task Force meeting
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reGUlaTorY coUnTerParTs

during the reporting year,  the ia stepped up its
participation in the international association of insurance
supervisors (“iais”), the standard-setting body for 
insurance supervisors worldwide.

in november 2019, we attended the 26th iais annual 
Conference and committee meetings in abu dhabi. the 
ia CeO participated in the meetings as a member of the 
iais executive Committee, which is responsible for 
providing strategic direction and managing the affairs of
iais. a total of seven seats on the executive Committee 
were allocated to asia, with other members being China, 
india, Japan, korea, malaysia and singapore.

during the report ing year ,  the ia  took over  the 
Chairmanship of the iais insurance groups Working 
group, a subcommittee responsible for providing a 
framework for developing and advancing efficient and 
effective group-wide supervision. the ia also assumed 
t h e  r o l e  o f  r e g i o n a l  C o o r d i n a t o r  i n  t h e  i a i s 
implementation and assessment Committee. this role 
seeks to achieve greater co-operation between the iais 
and its members in the asian and Oceanian region and 
boost members’ technical capacity.

We also participated in other iais committees and
working groups, namely the macroprudential Committee, 
the market Conduct Working group, the standards 
assessment Working group, the Capital, solvency and 
Field testing Working group and the signatories Working 
group.

in addition, the ia became a member of the global
Financial innovation network (“gFin”) in June 2019. 
through the gFin network, the ia has the opportunity to 
share experience in supporting financial innovation with 
regulators and related organisations worldwide, 
enhancing international collaboration in this area.

Dr Moses Cheng, Chairman, participates in the 26th IAIS Annual 
Conference

during the reporting year, we organised and took part in 
26 supervisory colleges to strengthen communication 
with overseas regulators on the group-wide supervision 
of multinational insurance groups.

regarding regional co-operation, the ia CeO was elected 
as the Chairman of the asian Forum of insurance 
regulators (“aFir”) for a term of two years from 2018 to 
2020. in may 2019, the ia joined the 14th aFir annual 
meeting and Conference, with the theme of “Promoting 
broader and sustainable insurance market with effective 
supervisory Practices”, and the second asia-Pacific high-
level meeting on insurance supervision, jointly organised 
by the Financial stability institute, iais, monetary 
authority of macao and aFir.
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Participants at the 19th Joint Meeting of the Insurance 
Regulators of Guangdong, Hong Kong, Macao and Shenzhen

We also collaborated with the China banking and 
insurance regulatory Commission (“CbirC”) and relevant 
mainland authorities on cross-boundary supervision and 
insurance initiatives relating to the development of the 
guangdong-hong kong-macao greater bay area and to 
the belt and road initiative. during the reporting year, we 
held a number of meetings with CbirC and shared our 
experience in supervision. For CbirC to better understand 
the business and operation of multinational insurance 
intermediaries, we arranged a visit to the hong kong 
office of a major international insurance broker company 
in september 2019. in January 2020, the ia attended the 
19th Joint meeting of the insurance regulators of 
guangdong, hong kong, macao and shenzhen in 
shenzhen.

in hong kong, we liaised closely with the Financial 
services and the treasury bureau and other financial 
regulators. For example, we held regular meetings with 
the hong kong monetary authority (“hkma”) on topics of 
common interest, such as prudential supervision of 
banking groups and their insurance subsidiaries, updates 
on regulatory developments in the banking and 
insurance sectors and market conduct issues concerning 
bank-related insurance intermediaries. We also met with 
the sFC to conduct product reviews of investment linked 
assurance scheme (“ilas”), discuss breaches of the Code 

on ilas by certain insurers, and handle complaints 
against insurers and insurance intermediaries about 
ilas-related matters. moreover, we held discussions with 
the mandatory Provident Fund schemes authority 
(“mPFa”) over the prudential regulation of the retirement 
scheme management business carried on by authorized 
long term insurers, as well as on market conduct issues 
relating to mandatory provident fund business and 
regulatory updates on pension and insurance-related 
matters. in addition, we attended regular meetings of the 
Council of Financial regulators and the Financial stability 
Committee to address cross-sectoral regulatory issues 
and matters having a potential impact on financial 
stability.

to reinforce hong kong’s status as an international 
financial centre, the city’s financial regulators teamed up 
to establish the hong kong academy of Finance in June 
2019. the hkma, ia, sFC and mPFa will work closely 
together to develop hong kong as a centre of excellence 
for financial leadership and promote monetary and 
financial research. the academy will invite talent from 
various sectors to join in order to groom future financial 
leaders with global and inter-disciplinary perspectives.

GovernMenT and leGislaTive coUncil

the ia proactively engages the government and the 
legislative Council (“legCo”) when formulating policy 
and legislative changes. during the reporting year, we 
held a number of meetings with relevant government 
bodies such as the Financial services and the treasury 
bureau on the introduction of enabling legislation 
relating to regulatory frameworks for group-wide 
supervision and the issuance of insurance-linked 
securities, the expanded scope of insurable risks of hong 
kong-based captive insurers, and tax relief for marine 
insurance and the underwriting of specialty risks. the 
legCo Panel on Financial affairs was also briefed on the 
relevant legislative proposals, which were passed in July 
2020.

https://www.aof.org.hk/
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TV Announcements in the Public Interest on the commencement of 
the direct regulatory regime for insurance intermediaries

The Financial Secretary and LegCo members are kept 
informed of our latest developments on an ongoing 
basis. In December 2019, we submitted our corporate 
plan for 2020-21 to the Financial Secretary, in which our 
operational objectives and budget for the coming 
financial year were set out. In January 2020, our annual 
report was tabled at LegCo. During the reporting year, we 
briefed the LegCo Panel on Financial Affairs on the IA’s 
budget for 2020-21, Insurtech development in Hong Kong 
and our initiatives to promote the development of the 
insurance industry in general.

THE PUBLIC
The IA continues to work with the Investor and Financial 
Education Council (“IFEC”) on public education. In July 
and August 2019, the IA and the IFEC jointly organised 
two educational seminars for around 500 members of the 
public.  At  the seminars,  helpful  suggestions on 
purchasing tax deductible financial products, including 
the Qualifying Deferred Annuity Policy (“QDAP”), were 
discussed.

To promote public understanding of QDAP, we explained 
its key features through a media briefing and interviews. 
In addition, we updated our dedicated IA webpage with 
more tips on how to choose a QDAP, and produced a 
host  of  brochures and videos to provide useful 
information about retirement saving and annuities.

A video on QDAP

In September 2019, we launched a publicity campaign 
including TV and radio Announcements in the Public 
I n t e r e s t  t o  k e e p  t h e  p u b l i c  u p d a t e d  o n  t h e 
commencement of the direct regulatory regime for 
insurance intermediaries. Information leaflets were also 
produced to provide points-to-note when taking out 
policies via intermediaries.

We use various communication tools to engage the 
public. In addition to running thematic education 
programmes, we share practical advice about insurance 
with the public on a daily basis. To achieve this, the IA’s 
corporate website provides up-to-date and easily 
accessible information such as frequently asked 
questions and educational materials.

We make use of our Facebook page “Insurpedia (蓋世保
鑑)” and YouTube channel to communicate insurance 
knowledge and interact with the general public. Assisted 
by an automated telephone system, we run a public 
enquiry hotline to answer questions about the IA’s work 
and the insurance industry generally. Over the reporting 
year, we also issued various press releases and arranged 
media interviews to keep the public informed of our 
activities.

A media workshop on QDAP

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/qualifying_deferred_annuity_policy/index.html
https://www.facebook.com/KoiSaiPoKam/
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the insurance authority (“ia”) takes corporate social responsibility 
seriously and has put in place a range of measures to promote staff 
wellness, protect the environment and contribute to the community in 
which we operate.

carinG for oUr sTaff

People are the ia’s most important asset and enhancing 
the well-being of our staff is a key concern. the social 
Committee, led by our human resources team and 
supported by colleagues from various divisions, 
spearheads a variety of staff activities to develop team 
cohesion and advocate work-life balance. during the 
reporting year, interest classes from bread-making and 
cookie baking, coffee tasting to Fai Chun writing were 
organised, along with a movie day and festive get-

togethers after work. to foster a healthy lifestyle, the 
committee arranged regular yoga and stretching classes, 
and a pilot class on dragon boat rowing. Free influenza 
vaccinations were also provided before the flu seasons. 

in addition, effective communication is vital for building 
strong staff relations. during the reporting year, senior 
executives hosted several coffee sessions to enable staff 
to give their feedback and suggestions, which were 
relayed to various stakeholders for follow-up action.

family fun day

in the spirit of our family-friendly ethos as an employer, we 
organised a Family Fun day during the summer holidays. 
Colleagues were invited to bring family members to the 
office and mingle with other staff by taking part in fun 
activities.
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staff activities
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carinG for The environMenT

the ia has adopted green practices in our workplace, which help us to use resources more efficiently. Our efforts include:

reduce
sharing reports, guidelines and consultation papers, and exchanging information with the 
industry through the ia website to reduce printing
accepting electronic returns from insurers to reduce the use of paper
using electronic platforms for internal workflows, including training course enrolment and 
performance appraisals
Providing staff with laptop computers to facilitate paperless meetings
sending festive greetings via e-cards
not using paper cups

recycle/reuse
sorting plastic and metal for recycling 
Collecting mooncake tins for recycling 
donating disassembled furniture to charities

to save energy, we supported the government’s energy 
saving Charter 2019 by maintaining an average indoor 
temperatures between 24 and 26 degrees Celsius in 
summer.  in addit ion,  we switched off  electr ical 
appliances and systems when not in use, procured 
energy-efficient electrical appliances and systems, and 
prominently displayed notices in our office that reminded
staff to reduce energy consumption.

in december 2019, the ia was awarded an energywi$e 
Certificate and Wastewi$e Certificate under the hong
kong green Organisation Certification scheme, led by the 
environmental Campaign Committee, in recognition of 
our waste reduction and energy-saving efforts.

to maintain good air quality in the office, we regularly 
cleaned air conditioning filters. in november 2019, the ia 
attained the good Class standard in the indoor air Quality 
Certificate scheme, organised by the environmental 
Protection department.

We have also extended our environmental initiatives 
beyond the workplace, such as adopting the no shark Fin 
Policy and pledging not to serve shark fin at corporate 
events.

consumption and recycling

2019–20 2018–19

consumption

Paper (piece/head) 4,516 5,128

electricity (kWh/head) 1,928 2,153

recycling

Paper (kg) 4,251 2,383
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Social Responsibility and Environmental  
Protection 
CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY 

During the reporting year, staff participated in a range of community activities to help build a more inclusive and caring 
society: 

Preparing meal boxes 
for the underprivileged,
organised by Food Angel 

Visiting the disadvantaged
and the elderly at Po
Leung Kuk’s sheltered
workshop and elderly home 

Making donations and taking
part in fundraising events,
organised by the
Community Chest:

Green Day 

Love Teeth Day 

Dress Casual Day 

Skip Lunch Day 

To support government initiatives to promote upward  
mobility among young people, the IA  participated in the  
Job Tasting Programme under the “Life Buddies”  
Mentoring Scheme, providing on-the-job experience to  
secondary students. In July 2019, we arranged a two-day 
activity including introduction of the IA’s work, office  
tours, and staff experience sharing for the students to  
gain firsthand experience in a real-life work setting. 

In recognition of our efforts to promote corporate social  
responsibility through caring for the community,  
employees and the environment, the IA was awarded the 
Caring Organization Logo 2019/20 by the Hong Kong  
Council of Social Service. 

IA staff share their experience with students on the Job Tasting  
Programme 
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Protecting Our Staff During a Pandemic 
In the face of the COVID-19 pandemic, starting in early  
2020, our top priority was to provide a safe working  
environment. The IA took prompt measures to mitigate  
health risks to employees while maintaining the  
operations. 

Measures included: 
Periodic office closures to minimise social contact  
and reduce the risk of spreading the virus 
Informing the public of the IA’s operating hours  
through our website and encouraging the use of  
non-face-to-face channels such as telephone and  
email for general enquiries and complaints 
Spilt team arrangements to minimise the need for  
staff to return to our office 

Staggered working and lunch hours to avoid peak  
times 
Provision of laptop computers with secure remote  
access to enable staff to work from home 
Adoption of video and audio conference tools to  
facilitate communication with internal and external 
parties 
Training conducted via web-casting 
Increased frequency of cleaning and disinfecting  
our office 
Provision of face masks and hand sanitizer 
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indePendenT aUdiTor’s rePorT 
To The insUrance aUThoriTY
(established in hong kong under the insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41))

oPinion

what we have audited
the financial statements of the insurance authority (“the 
authority”) set out on pages 73 to 92, which comprise:

• the	income	and	expenditure	account	for	the	year	
ended 31 march 2020;

• the	statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	 	March
2020;

•	 the	statement	of	changes	in	capital	and	reserve	for	
the year then ended;

•	 the	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended;	
and

•	 the	notes	to	the	financial	statements,	which	include	
a summary of significant accounting policies.

our opinion
in our opinion, the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the authority as at 31 
march 2020, and of its results of the operations and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with hong 
kong Financial reporting standards (“hkFrss”) issued by 
the hong kong institute of Certified Public accountants 
(“hkiCPa”)  and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the insurance Ordinance.

basis for oPinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with hong kong 
standards on auditing (“hksas”) issued by the hkiCPa. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the Financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

independence
We are independent of the authority in accordance with 
the hkiCPa’s Code of ethics for Professional accountants 
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

resPonsibiliTies of The aUThoriTY and 
The aUdiT coMMiTTee for The financial 
sTaTeMenTs

the authority is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with hkFrss issued by the hkiCPa and the 
insurance Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
authority determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in preparing the financial statements, the authority is 
responsible for assessing its ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the authority either intends to 
liquidate the authority or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

the audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the 
authority’s financial reporting process.
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aUdiTor’s resPonsibiliTies for The aUdiT 
of The financial sTaTeMenTs

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in 
accordance with section 5F of the insurance Ordinance 
a n d  f o r  n o  o t h e r  p u r p o s e .  W e  d o  n o t  a s s u m e 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report. reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
hksas will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if ,  individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.

as part of an audit in accordance with hksas, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Ident i f y 	 and 	 assess 	 the 	 r i sks 	 o f 	 mate r ia l
misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. the risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

• Obtain	 an	 understanding	 of	 internal	 control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
p r o c e d u r e s  t h a t  a r e  a p p r o p r i a t e  i n  t h e
circumstances,  but  not  for  the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
authority’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
authority.

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	Authority’s	
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. if
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. however, future events or
conditions may cause the authority to cease to
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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I NDEPENDENT  AUD ITOR ’S  REPORT  
TO  THE  INSURANCE  AUTHOR ITY  (Con t i nued )
(established in Hong Kong under the Insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41)) 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the 
Authority regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 

Hong Kong, 3 September 2020 
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT  
For the year ended 31 March 2020 

INCOME 
Levies 
Authorization and annual fees 
Insurers register’s prescribed fees 
Interest income 
Other income 

NOTE 

5 

Year ended 
31 March 2020 

HK$ 

163,007,321 
68,795,610 
10,694,006 
5,653,752 
79,146 

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

HK$ 

112,450,815 
55,760,002 
6,667,530 
5,479,074 
44,720 

248,229,835 180,402,141 

EXPENDITURE 
Staff costs and key management personnel compensation 
Office accommodation 
Professional fees 
Information system services 
External relations expenses 
Other operating expenses 
Depreciation 
— Fixed assets 

 — Right-of-use assets 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 

6, 7 

8 

9 

10 
11 
11 

291,942,412 
2,573,022 
6,373,001 
8,392,597 
4,946,762 
8,840,261 

23,829,975 
19,469,685 
1,232,642 

252,748,123 
20,829,601 
7,639,754 
5,821,550 
4,955,716 
8,114,154 

20,818,954 
– 
– 

367,600,357 320,927,852 

DEFICIT FOR THE YEAR (119,370,522) (140,525,711) 

The Insurance Authority (the “Authority”) had no components of comprehensive income other than “deficit for the year” 
in either of the year presented. Accordingly, no separate statement of comprehensive income is presented as the  
Authority’s “total comprehensive loss” was the same as the “deficit for the year” in both years. 

The notes on pages 77 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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sTaTeMenT of financial PosiTion
as at 31 march 2020

2020 2019
nOte hk$ hk$

non-cUrrenT asseTs
Fixed assets
right-of-use assets
deposits

10
11

45,949,701
64,898,949

–

59,421,319
–

5,460,674

110,848,650 64,881,993

cUrrenT asseTs
deposits and prepayments
accounts receivable
time deposits with maturity longer than 3 months
Cash and cash equivalents

12
10,834,010
88,960,485

–
185,945,289

6,445,954
59,274,096

210,000,000
99,497,902

285,739,784 375,217,952

cUrrenT liabiliTies
Other payables and accruals
deferred authorization and annual fees income
lease liabilities 11

55,915,623
43,947,143
19,729,593

55,164,070
32,148,044

–

119,592,359 87,312,114

non-cUrrenT liabiliTies
Other payables and accruals
lease liabilities 11

–
45,608,308

2,029,542
–

neT asseTs 231,387,767 350,758,289

caPiTal and reserve
grants from the government of hksar
accumulated deficit for the year

14, 19 653,000,000
(421,612,233)

653,000,000
(302,241,711)

231,387,767 350,758,289

the financial statements on pages 73 to 92 were approved and authorized for issue by the authority on 3 september
2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

dr Moses cheng
Chairman

Mr clement cheung
Chief Executive Officer

the notes on pages 77 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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sTaTeMenT of chanGes in caPiTal and reserve
For the year ended 31 march 2020

Grants from the accumulated 
Government deficit for 

of hksar the year Total
nOte hk$ hk$ hk$

balance at 1 april 2018 453,000,000 (161,716,000) 291,284,000
grants from the government of hksar 14, 19 200,000,000 – 200,000,000
deficit for the year – (140,525,711) (140,525,711)

at 31 march 2019 653,000,000 (302,241,711) 350,758,289

balance at 1 april 2019 653,000,000 (302,241,711) 350,758,289
deficit for the year – (119,370,522) (119,370,522)

at 31 March 2020 653,000,000 (421,612,233) 231,387,767

the notes on pages 77 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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sTaTeMenT of cash flows
For the year ended 31 march 2020

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

cash flows froM oPeraTinG acTiviTies
deficit for the year (119,370,522) (140,525,711)
adjustment for:
depreciation

— Fixed assets 23,829,975 20,818,954
 — right-of-use assets 19,469,685 –
interest expense on lease liabilities 1,232,642 –
gain on disposal of fixed assets (2,428) (487)
interest income on bank deposits (5,653,752) (5,479,074)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (80,494,400) (125,186,318)

Change in working capital:
increase in deposits and prepayments (625,789) (1,179,500)
increase in accounts receivable (32,152,592) (33,758,742)
increase in other payables and accruals 751,553 28,505,390
increase in deferred authorization and annual fees income 11,799,099 5,532,445

neT cash Used in oPeraTinG acTiviTies (100,722,129) (126,086,725)

cash flows froM invesTinG acTiviTies
decrease/(increase) in time deposits with maturity longer than 3 months 210,000,000 (108,494,346)
Fixed assets purchased (10,445,209) (22,334,311)
Proceeds from fixed assets disposed 89,280 2,350
interest received from bank deposits 8,119,955 3,112,166

neT cash froM/(Used in) invesTinG acTiviTies 207,764,026 (127,714,141)

cash flows froM financinG acTiviTies
grant from the government of hksar – 200,000,000
Principal element of lease payment (19,361,868) –
interest element of lease payment (1,232,642) –

neT cash (Used in)/GeneraTed froM financinG acTiviTies (20,594,510) 200,000,000

neT increase/(decrease) in cash and cash eQUivalenTs 86,447,387 (53,800,866)

cash and cash eQUivalenTs aT beGinninG of The Year 99,497,902 153,298,768

cash and cash eQUivalenTs aT end of The Year 185,945,289 99,497,902

analysis of cash and cash equivalents:
time deposits with maturity less than 3 months 176,000,000 85,000,000
Other bank balances and cash 9,945,289 14,497,902

185,945,289 99,497,902

the notes on pages 77 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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noTes To The financial sTaTeMenTs
For the year ended 31 march 2020

1. backGroUnd and fUncTions of The 
insUrance aUThoriTY

the authority was established on 7 december 2015 
with the commencement of the relevant provisions 
added by the insurance Companies (amendment) 
Ordinance 2015 (“amendment Ordinance”). the 
authority is the insurance regulator independent of 
the government.

the authority took over the statutory functions of 
the Office of the Commissioner of insurance (“OCi”) 
in regulating insurers on 26 June 2017. the OCi was 
disbanded on the same day.

On 23 september 2019, the authority took over the 
regulation of insurance intermediaries from the 
three self-regulatory Organizations (“srOs”)1 
through a statutory licensing regime.

the financial statements are presented in hong 
kong dollars, which is the functional currency of the 
authority.

2. siGnificanT accoUnTinG Policies

(a) basis of preparation
in preparing the financial statements, the authority
has given careful consideration to the long-term 
financial sustainability of the authority in light of 
the accumulated deficit of hk$421,612,233 as at 31 
march 2020. under close financial monitoring the 
authority considers that it will have sufficient 
working capital available to meet its liabilities as 
and when they fall due for twelve months from the 
end of the reporting period. the authority will also 
explore different options to further enhance its 
i n c o m e  s o u r c e s  f o r  m e e t i n g  t h e  f i n a n c i a l 
requirement of its operation in the long run. 
accordingly, the financial statements have been 
prepared on a going concern basis.

the financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost basis and in accordance with all 
appl icable hong kong Financial  report ing 
standards (“hkFrs”) issued by the hong kong 
institute of Certified Public accountants and have 
been properly prepared in compliance with the 
insurance Ordinance (the “iO”).

(i) new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards not yet 
adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments 
and interpretations have been published that are 
not mandatory for financial year beginning on 1 
april 2019 and have not been early adopted by the 
authority. these standards are not expected to 
have a material impact on the entity in the current 
or future reporting periods and on foreseeable 
future transactions.

1 the three srOs are the insurance agents registration board established under the hong kong Federation of insurers, the hong kong 
Confederation of insurance brokers and the Professional insurance brokers association.
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2. siGnificanT accoUnTinG Policies 
(continued)

(b) change in accounting policies
new mandatory standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards, which have 
become mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning on or after 1 april 2019, 
have been adopted by the authority. these include 
the following new standards, amendments to 
standards and interpretations to existing standards:

amendment to annual improvements 2015-2017 
Cycle on ‘annual improvements Project’,

amendment to hong kong accounting standards 
(“hkas”) 19 on ‘Plan amendment, Curtailment or 
settlement’,

amendment to hkas 28 on ‘long-term interests in 
associates and Joint Ventures’,

amendment to hkFrs 9 on ‘Prepayment Features 
with negative Compensation’,

new standard of hkFrs 16 on ‘leases’, and

interpretation to hk(iFriC)-int 23 on ‘uncertainty 
over income tax treatments’.

these standards, except hkFrs 16 ‘leases’, are 
either not relevant or the effect of amendments to 
these standards is not material to the authority’s 
financial statements.

the authority has adopted hkFrs 16 ‘leases’ 
retrospectively from 1 april 2019, but has not 
restated comparatives for the previous reporting 
period, as permitted under the specific transition 
provisions in the standard. the reclassifications and 
the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules 
are therefore recognised in the opening balance on 
1 april 2019. the new accounting policies are 
disclosed in note 2(l).

On adoption of hkFrs 16, the authority recognised 
lease liabilities in relation to leases which had 
previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ 
under the principles of hkas 17 ‘leases’. these 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
lessee’s notional incremental borrowing rate as of 1 
april 2019. the lessee’s notional incremental 
borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 
april 2019 was 1.68%.

(i) Practical expedients applied

in applying hkFrs 16 for the first time, the authority
has used the following practical expedients
permitted by the standard:

• exc lud ing 	 in i t ia l 	 d i rec t 	 cos ts 	 fo r 	 the
measurement of the right-of-use asset at the
date of initial application, and

•	 using	hindsight	in	determining	the	lease	term
where the contract contains options to extend 
or terminate the lease.

the authority has also elected not to reassess 
whether a contract is, or contains a lease at the 
date of initial application. instead, for contracts 
entered into before the transition date the authority 
relied on its assessment made applying hkas 17 
and interpretation 4 ‘determining whether an 
arrangement contains a lease’.
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(b) change in accounting policies (continued)
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(ii) adjustments recognised in the balance sheet
on 1 april 2019

the change in accounting policy affected the
following items in the balance sheet on 1 april 2019:

•	 Right-of-use	assets	—	increase	by	83,358,630

• Deposits	and	prepayments	—	decrease	by
1,698,407

•	 Lease	liabilities	—	increase	by	83,689,765
• Other	payables	and	accruals	—	decrease	by

2,029,542

the net impact on retained earnings on 1 april 2019 
was nil.

(iii) Measurement of lease liabilities

hk$

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 march 2019 24,354,504
lease payments for the additional periods where the authority considers 
 it reasonably certain that it will not exercise the termination option 61,142,623
discounted using the lessee’s notional rate of incremental borrowing 

at the date of initial application (1,807,362)

lease liabilities recognised as at 1 april 2019 83,689,765

Of which are:
Current lease liabilities 19,163,515
non-current lease liabilities 64,526,250

83,689,765

(iv) Measurement of right-of-use assets

the associated right-of-use assets were measured
at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted 
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 
payments related to that lease recognised in the
balance sheet as at 31 march 2019.
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(c) recognition of income
(i) levies

levies on insurance premiums are payable by
policy holders and are recognised in the income 
and expenditure account as income in the period 
the respective insurance policies are written and as 
reported by the authorised insurers to the authority. 
the amount of levies to be recognised in the 
authority’s reporting period is based on the levy
remittance reported by the authorized insurers for
that period, being adjusted for the best estimate of 
the portion of levies that the authority is expected 
t o  r e t u r n  o r  r e f u n d  f o r  p o l i c i e s  c a n c e l l e d 
subsequent to the date of the statement of financial 
position or levies uncollected.

(ii) fees

authorization and annual fees are recognised as 
income on a straight-line basis over the periods to 
which they relate. insurers register’s prescribed 
fees are recognised as income when relevant 
applications are completed.

(iii) interest income

interest income represents gross interest income 
from bank deposits and is recognised on a time 
apportionment basis using the effective interest 
method.

(d) financial assets
the authority’s financial assets include deposits,
accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents. 
these financial assets, other than cash, are held 
within a model whose objective is to hold assets in 
order to collect contractual cash flows. the 
contractual terms of financial assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. they are initially measured at 
fair value plus direct attributable transaction costs. 
subsequent to init ial  recognit ion,  they are 
measured at amortised cost. interest income from
these financial assets is recognised by using 
effective interest rate method. impairment losses 
are presented as a separate line item in the income 
and expenditure account. the authority assesses 
on a forward looking basis the expected credit 
losses associated with these financial assets carried 
at amortised cost. the impairment methodology 
applied depends on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

a financial asset is derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
the authority has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset.
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(e) fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the authority and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. the carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is 
derecognised when replaced. all other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income and 
expenditure account during the financial period in 
which they are incurred.

depreciation is provided to write-off the cost of 
items of fixed assets over their estimated useful 
lives and after taking into account their estimated 
residual value, using the straight-line method.

Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis, in the case of leasehold improvements, the 
shorter lease term as follows:

Office equipment 5 years
Office furniture 5 years
information technology (“it”)
 equipment and software 3 years
motor vehicles 5 years
leasehold improvements 3 years

an item of fixed assets is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the 
asset. any gain or loss arising from derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
t h e  a s s e t )  i s  i n c l u d e d  i n  t h e  i n c o m e  a n d 
expenditure account in the year in which the item is 
derecognised.

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
reporting period. an asset’s carrying amount is 
written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount. the 
recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair 
value less costs of disposal and value in use.

(f) cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
cash at  bank and short- term highly  l iquid
investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

(g) other payables and accruals
Payables and accruals are obligations to pay that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Payables and accruals are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year. if not, they are presented as non-
current liabilities. Payables and accruals are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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(h) employee benefits
annual leave and variable pay are recognised when 
they are  accrued according to employees’
entitlements. a provision is made for the estimated 
liability for untaken annual leave and variable pay 
as a result of services rendered by employees up to 
the end of the reporting period.

employee entitlements to sick leave, maternity
leave and paternity leave are not recognised until 
the time of leave.

employee benefit expenses, including pensions and 
housing benefits provided by the government to 
the civil service staff seconded (“seconded staff”) to 
the authority, are charged as expenditure on an 
accrual basis in the period in which the associated 
services are rendered.

(i) retirement benefit costs
the authority has joined a mandatory Provident 
Fund scheme (“mPF scheme”) established under 
the mandatory Provident Fund schemes Ordinance. 
Contributions paid or payable to the mPF scheme is 
charged as expenses when employees have 
rendered services entitling them to the benefits.

(j) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the authority has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, when it is probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation, and when a
reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can
be made. expenditures for which a provision has
been recognised are charged against the related
provision in the period in which the expenditures
are incurred. Provisions are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time
value of money is material, the amount provided is
the present value of the expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. Where the
authority expects a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset
but only when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

(k) Grants from the Government of hong kong
special administrative region (“hksar”)
grants from the government of hksar is provided
without related conditions. it is recognised as 
capital upon receipt in the statement of financial 
position.
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(l) leases
until 31 march 2019, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were
not transferred to the authority as lessee were
classified as operating leases (note 18). Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) were charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.

From 1 april 2019, leases are recognised as a right-
of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the rate 
at which the leased asset is available for use by the 
authority.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease 
c o m p o n e n t s .  t h e  a u t h o r i t y  a l l o c a t e s  t h e 
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices. however, for leases of premises of 
which the authority is a lessee, it has elected not to 
separate lease and non-lease components and 
instead accounts for these as a single lease 
component.

assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially 
measured on a present value basis. lease liabilities 
include the net present value of the following lease 
payments:

• fixed	payments	(including in-substance	fixed
p a y m e n t s ) ,  l e s s  a n y  l e a s e  i n c e n t i v e s
receivable

• variable	lease	payment	that	are	based	on	an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date

• amounts	 expected	 to	be	payable	by	 the
authority under residual value guarantees

• the	exercise	price	of	a	purchase	option	if	the
authority is reasonably certain to exercise that 
option, and

• payments	of	penalties	 for	 terminating	 the
lease, if the lease term reflects the authority
exercising that option.

lease payments to be made under reasonably 
certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

the lease payments are discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease. if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, which is generally the case 
for leases in the authority, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 
authority would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the 
r i g h t - o f - u s e  a s s e t  i n  a  s i m i l a r  e c o n o m i c 
environment with similar terms, security and 
conditions.

the authority may be exposed to potential future 
increases in variable lease payments based on an 
index or rate, which are not included in the lease 
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to 
lease payments based on an index or rate take 
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted 
against the right-of-use asset.
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(l) leases(continued)
lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. the finance cost is charged to 
income and expenditure over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period.

r i g h t - o f - u s e  a s s e t s  a r e  m e a s u r e d  a t  c o s t 
comprising the following:

•	 the	amount	of	 the	 initial	measurement	of	
lease liability,

•	 any	 lease	 payments	made	 at	 or	 before	
the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received,

•	 any	initial	direct	costs,	and

•	 restoration	costs.

right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 
term on a straight-line basis.

3. criTical esTiMaTes and JUdGeMenTs
3.1 critical accounting estimates

in the process of applying the accounting policy of 
levies recognition, the authority estimated that 
there will be no significant amount of levies to be 
returned or refunded for cancelled policies or 
uncollected levies as at 31 march 2020. as a result, 
there is no adjustment or provision against the 
levies as per the remittance reports.

3.2 critical accounting judgements
note 15 contains information about the statutory 
deposits, placed by the authorized insurers in the 
name of the authority in accordance with the 
respective sections of insurance Ordinance. the 
authority is of the opinion that such deposits are 
not the resources for the authority’s own purposes 
and no economic benefits have been transferred to 
the authority.

4. TaxaTion
no provision for hong kong Profits tax has been
made in the financial statements as the authority is
exempt from hong kong Profits tax under the
inland revenue Ordinance.

5. levies
effective from 1 January 2018, iO section 134
provides for the authority to collect levies on
insurance premiums from the policy holders
through the authorized insurers if the insurance
contract relates to a prescribed class of insurance
business or a prescribed type of insurance contract.
the levy rates are established by law. levies of
hk$163,007,321 (31 march 2019: hk$112,450,815)
are recognised for the year ended 31 march 2020.
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6. sTaff cosTs
the staff costs include salaries, contributions to mPF scheme, insurance, employee benefits and other staff related 
costs of the authority.

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

salaries 274,849,339 239,211,642
Contributions to mPF scheme 11,283,244 9,483,032
insurance 5,349,158 3,643,068
employee benefits and other staff related costs 460,671 410,381

291,942,412 252,748,123

7. keY ManaGeMenT Personnel coMPensaTion

the key management personnel are the authority members as defined in the iO section 4aa. they consist of a 
chairperson (a non-executive director of the authority), a chief executive officer (an executive director of the 
authority), 4 other executive directors, and 11 other non-executive directors (31 march 2019: a chairperson, a chief 
executive officer, 4 other executive directors, and 8 other non-executive directors). authority members’ 
remuneration and benefits included in note 6 are set out below:

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

non-executive directors
 remuneration 3,228,344 2,620,129

Chief executive Officer
salary and other short term employee benefits 5,541,474 4,997,930
Post-employment benefits 230,769 581,927

Other executive directors
salaries and other short term employee benefits 17,400,168 17,389,049
Post-employment benefits 724,460 714,845

23,896,871 23,683,751
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8. Professional fees

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

Consultancy fees 5,836,775 5,623,750
legal fees 64,320 127,500
auditor’s remuneration 220,000 220,000
Other fees

 

 

251,906
  

  

1,668,504

6,373,001 7,639,754

9. oTher oPeraTinG exPenses

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

Journals, periodicals, and corporate membership 2,648,676 2,214,334
staff training and welfare 1,371,271 2,226,065
duty visits 2,728,427 2,079,973
Other expenses

 

 

2,091,887
  

  

1,593,782

8,840,261 8,114,154
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10. fixed asseTs

iT 

office 
equipment

hk$

office 
furniture

hk$

equipment 
and 

software
hk$

Motor 
vehicles

hk$

leasehold 
improve-

ments
hk$

Total
hk$

cosT
at 1 april 2019 9,164,459 5,143,566 46,405,260 468,435 26,011,756 87,193,476
additions during the year 863,546 23,949 9,087,964 – 469,750 10,445,209
disposals during the year

  

(82,000)
 

(97,101)
 

–
 

–
 

–
 

(179,101)

at 31 March 2020
  

9,946,005
 

5,070,414
 

55,493,224
 

468,435
 

26,481,506
 

97,459,584

accUMUlaTed 
 dePreciaTion
at 1 april 2019 2,449,903 1,314,378 12,379,754 171,759 11,456,363 27,772,157
Charge for the year 1,913,187 1,016,596 12,109,253 93,687 8,697,252 23,829,975
disposals during the year
  

(61,500)
 

(30,749)
 

–
 

–
 

–
 

(92,249)

at 31 March 2020
  

4,301,590
 

2,300,225
 

24,489,007
 

265,446
 

20,153,615
 

51,509,883

carrYinG aMoUnT
at 31 March 2020
  

5,644,415
 

2,770,189
 

31,004,217
 

202,989
 

6,327,891
 

45,949,701

COst
at 1 april 2018 8,974,853 4,556,676 25,300,018 468,435 25,562,377 64,862,359
additions during the year 189,606 586,890 21,108,436 – 449,379 22,334,311
disposals during the year
  

–
 

–
 

(3,194)
 

–
 

–
 

(3,194)

at 31 march 2019 9,164,459 5,143,566 46,405,260 468,435 26,011,756 87,193,476
       

aCCumulated 
 dePreCiatiOn
at 1 april 2018 665,390 306,522 3,064,285 78,073 2,840,264 6,954,534
Charge for the year 1,784,513 1,007,856 9,316,800 93,686 8,616,099 20,818,954
disposals during the year
  

–
 

–
 

(1,331)
 

–
 

–
 

(1,331)

at 31 march 2019 2,449,903 1,314,378 12,379,754 171,759 11,456,363 27,772,157
       

Carrying amOunt
at 31 march 2019 6,714,556 3,829,188 34,025,506 296,676 14,555,393 59,421,319
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11. leases
(i) amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

the statement of financial position shows the following amounts relating to leases:

31 March 
2020

1 april 
2019

hk$ hk$

right-of-use assets
Premises 64,898,949 83,358,630

lease liabilities
Current 19,729,593 19,163,515
non-current 45,608,308 64,526,250

65,337,901 83,689,765

(ii) amounts recognised in the income and expenditure account
the income and expenditure account shows the following amounts relating to leases:

31 March 
2020

1 april 
2019

hk$ hk$

depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Premises 19,469,685 –

interest expense on lease liabilities 1,232,642 –

the authority leases premises for its operation. the lease runs for an initial period of 3 years and includes an
option to renew the lease at prevailing market rate for another 3 years after the end of the contract term. lease
payment changes upon lease renewal to reflect the prevailing new rent.

the total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was hk$20,594,510.
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12. accoUnTs receivable
2020 2019
hk$ hk$

levies receivable
interest receivable
Others

84,827,717
533,746

3,599,022

55,754,891
2,999,949

519,256

88,960,485 59,274,096

the authorized insurers collect levies from policy holders in 2 half-yearly periods ended 31 march and 30 
september each year and remit them to the authority within 2 months after the end of each period.

there are no impairment losses recognised for the year ended 31 march 2020 (31 march 2019: nil).

13. financial risk ManaGeMenT

the authority’s financial instruments include
deposits, accounts receivable, time deposits with
maturity longer than 3 months, cash and cash
equivalents and other payables and accruals.

details of these financial instruments are disclosed 
in respective notes. the risks associated with these 
financial instruments and the policies applied by 
the authority to mitigate these risks are set out 
below.

(a) Market risk
(i) foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk arises as the value of future
transactions, recognised monetary assets and
monetary  l iabi l i t ies  denominated in  other
currencies fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates.

the authority is not exposed to significant foreign 
exchange risk.

(ii) interest rate risk

interest rate risk arises from the possibility that
changes in interest rates will affect the value of 
financial instruments. the authority is mainly
exposed to interest rate risk in relation to the 
interest bearing bank deposits.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair 
value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. the authority 
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in 
the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its 
cash flow risks and closely monitors the interest 
rate risk exposure within an acceptable level.
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(ii) interest rate risk (continued)

the following table lists the details of the interest rate profile of the authority’s interest bearing financial assets as 
at 31 march 2020 and 31 march 2019. all other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest bearing. the
authority is of the opinion that it is not exposed to significant interest rate risk and therefore no sensitivity analysis 
is presented.

2020 2019
interest rate interest rate 

per annum hk$ per annum hk$

Cash and cash equivalents 0.01%–2.16% 185,945,289 0.02%–1.65% 99,497,902

time deposits with maturity  
longer than 3 months – – 1.78–2.20% 210,000,000

(iii) Price risk

the authority does not hold any investments which 
are exposed to significant price risk as at 31 march 
2020 (31 march 2019: nil).

(b) fair value estimation
the authority is of the opinion that the carrying 
amount of all financial assets and liabilities are 
approximate to their fair values.

(c) credit risk
the authority takes on exposure to credit risk,
which is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will 
be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment in 
full when due, that it has entered into with the 
authority.

the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented 
by the carrying amount of each financial asset in 
the statement of financial position. Credit risk arises 
from cash and cash equivalent and time deposits 
with maturity longer than 3 months, accounts 
receivable and deposits. the authority’s bank 
balances are deposited with reputable authorized 
financial institutions.

(d) liquidity risk
liquidity risk is the risk that the authority will
encounter diff iculty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities that are settled
by delivering cash or another financial asset.

the authority manages liquidity risk by holding 
adequate cash and unencumbered assets which 
can be readily realised for cash to meet expected 
cash outflow.

as at 31 march 2020, the authority held sufficient 
cash and cash equivalents to meet all of the cash 
outflow arising from other payables and accruals.
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(e) capital risk management
 the authority manages its capital to ensure its
ability to continue as a going concern so that the
authority can be financially independent and
recover  i ts  operating costs  through levies,
authorization and annual fees and other income.
the capital structure of the authority comprises the
grants from the government of hksar net of
accumulated losses as disclosed in the statement
of changes in capital and reserve on page 75.

14. GranTs froM The GovernMenT of 
hksar
the authority received a grant of hk$200 million
from the government of hksar in June 2018
(hk$450 million in June 2016; hk$3 million in march 
2016) as funding to cover the establishment and
operating costs of the authority in its initial years.
the grants are recognised as capital  in the
statement of financial position and are provided by
the government of  hksar without  related
conditions.

15. sTaTUTorY dePosiTs froM aUThorized 
insUrers
under Part V (section 35a) of the iO, the authority
may exercise its rights to require an authorized
insurer to place a deposit in the name of the
authority as trustee for the authorized insurer’s
funds when this is considered desirable in the
general interests of persons who are or may
become policy holders of the authorized insurer.
deposits placed by the particular authorized insurer 
is to be used by the authority as a source of
payment to policyholders in case of insolvency of
that authorized insurer. any interest accrued on the
statutory deposits belongs to the authorized
insurer. the authority has therefore determined
that those deposits are not its own financial assets
and should not be recognised in its statement of
financial position. as at 31 march 2020, such
statutory deposits amounted to hk$625,350,974 (31 
march 2019: hk$626,303,082).

16. leTTers of crediT froM aUThorized 
insUrers

under Part iVa (section 25C) of the iO, an authorized
insurer may, instead of maintaining assets in hong
kong as required by this part, substitute, in whole or
in part, a letter of credit or other commitment from
a bank, in favour of the authority. as at 31 march
2020, such letters of credit or other commitments
held by the authority amounted to hk$7,091,911,292 
(31 march 2019: hk$5,945,052,849).
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17. caPiTal coMMiTMenTs

at the date of statement of financial position, the authority had commitments for capital expenditure in respect of 
the acquisition of fixed assets as follows:

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

Contracted but not yet incurred 2,730,739 7,137,984

18. oPeraTinG lease coMMiTMenT

the authority leases office premises under non-cancellable operating lease expiring within three years with
renewal rights.

2020 2019
hk$ hk$

Within one year
later than one year but not later than five years

–
–

18,265,878
6,088,626

– 24,354,504

at 31 march 2019, the authority had commitment for future minimum lease payments under a non-cancellable 
operating lease. With the change in accounting policies since 1 april 2019 (note 2(b)), this commitment has been 
recognised in the statement of financial position under right-of-use assets and lease liabilities (note 11(i)).

19. evenTs afTer The rePorTinG Period

subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the legislative Council of hksar, approved, on 14 may 2020, a 
government grant without related condition of hk$300 million to the authority. the grant was received on 18 June 
2020.
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The orGanisaTional sTrUcTUre
(as at 31 march 2020)

Insurance
Authority

1 renamed as regulatory instruments Committee in June 2019.

Industry Advisory Committee
on Long Term Business

Industry Advisory Committee
on General Business

Corporate Services
Committee

External Relations
Committee

Audit
Committee

Codes and Guidelines1

Committee

Chief Executive
Officer

CEO’s Office
• Insurance Authority Secretariat
• External Relations Section
• Legal Section

Long Term
Business
Division

General
Business
Division

Market
Conduct
Division

Policy and
Development

Division

Corporate
Services
Division
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chanGes of aUThorized insUrers
(From 1 april 2019 to 31 march 2020)

name of insurer Place of incorporation
Type of business 
authorized

new authorizations

avo insurance Company limited hong kong general

China reinsurance (hong kong) Company limited hong kong long term 

swiss re asia Pte. ltd. singapore Composite

Well link life insurance Company limited hong kong long term

Zurich life insurance (hong kong) limited hong kong long term

withdrawal of authorizations

Federal insurance Company united states of america general

aXa Corporate solutions assurance France general

radian insurance inc. united states of america general

malayan international insurance Corporation limited bahama islands general

change of names of insurers

liberty international underwriters limited
to
liberty specialty markets hong kong limited 

hong kong general

Old mutual international isle of man limited
to
Quilter international isle of man limited 

isle of man long term
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indUsTrY advisorY coMMiTTees1

(as at 31 march 2020)

indUsTrY advisorY coMMiTTee on lonG 
TerM bUsiness

chairman 
dr the hon moses Cheng mo-chi, gbm, gbs, JP

ex-officio Members 
mr Clement Cheung Wan-ching, gbs, JP 
ms Carol hui mei-ying
mr raymond tam Wai-man

non-official Members2

ms Charity au Chi-san
ms Jo Jo Chan shuk-fong
mr Chan yim-kwong
mrs estella Chiu sheun-fun
mr garth brian Jones
mr mike lee siu-chuen
Professor li Jing-yuan
mr Jeremy robert Porter
mr martin tam Chi-wai
mr harold Wong tsu-hing 
mr Jonathan Zhao Xiaojing

indUsTrY advisorY coMMiTTee on General 
bUsiness

chairman
dr the hon moses Cheng mo-chi, gbm, gbs, JP

ex-officio Members
mr Clement Cheung Wan-ching, gbs, JP
mr simon lam sui-kong
mr raymond tam Wai-man

non-official Members3

mr Cheng kwok-ping
mr michael Fung lik-yeung
ms angela leung Wai-tuen
mr liu shihong
mr andrew mak kin-ting
Professor angela ng lai-ping
ms rebecca Poon Chui-ngor
dr michael tsui Fuk-sun, mh
mr Peter anthony Whalley
mr harry Wong kwok-tim
Professor Jason yeh Jia-hsing

1 the above lists represent membership of the industry advisory Committees from 1 June 2018 to 31 may 2020. a new term of the two committees 
commenced on 1 June 2020. Please refer to the ia website for the latest membership lists.

2 mr david alexander tendered his resignation in June 2019.
3 mr martin stephan rueegg tendered his resignation in July 2019. 

https://www.ia.org.hk/en/aboutus/governance/industry_advisory_committees.html
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insUrance aPPeals TribUnal
(as at 31 march 2020)

chairMan

mr douglas lam tak yip, sC

Panel MeMbers

mr Frederick Chan hing Fai
ms karen Chan ka yin, JP
Professor Chan koon hung
ms kerry Ching kim Wai
Professor stella Cho lung Pui lan
mr alex Chu Wing yiu
Professor goo say hak
mr marvin hsu tsun Fai
mr eric hui kam kwai
Professor michael hui king man, mh
ms Julienne Jen
mr adrian king
miss anna-mae koo mei Jong
ms Juan leung Chung yan, mh
dr miranda lou lai Wah
dr gladie lui man Ching
mr Philip mak shun Pong, mh
mr andrew mak yip shing, bbs, JP
Professor Phyllis mo lai lan
Professor Joshua mok ka ho
dr Patrick Poon sun Cheong, sbs
mr bhabani sankar rath
mr gary soo kwok leung
mr simon tang shu Pui
mr Charles yang Chuen liang, bbs, JP
dr samuel yung Wing ki, sbs, mh, JP
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Process review Panel for 
insUrance aUThoriTY
(as at 31 march 2020)

chairMan

mr eugene Fung ting-sek, sC 

non-official MeMbers

miss grace Chan man-yee 
mr Chow Wai-shun 
mrs agnes koon Woo kam-oi 
mr Patrick law Fu-yuen 
mr James lin 
mr Jeff Wong kwan-kit 

ex-officio MeMbers

Chairman of the insurance authority
secretary for Justice (or her representative) 
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